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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-K
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010
Commission file number 1-13879

INNOSPEC INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
DELAWARE 98-0181725
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
8375 South Willow Street
Littleton
Colorado 80124
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (303)-792-5554
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(thefAct:

Name of each exchange on
Title of each class which reqistered
N/A N/A

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: Common stock, par value $0.01 per share
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.

Yes O

No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.

Yes O

No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding
12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes

No O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted
and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to
submit and post such files).

Yes O

No
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant's
knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part Ill of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. [1]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of
“large accelerated filer”, “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated fil
Accelerated file
Non-accelerated file
Smaller reporting compa
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).
Yes O
No
The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of the most recently completed second fiscal quarter (June
30, 2010) was approximately $124 million, based on the closing price of the common shares on the NASDAQ Stock Market on June 30, 2010. Shares of common stock held
by each officer and director and by each beneficial owner who owns 5% or more of the outstanding common stock have been excluded in that such persons may be deemed
to be affiliates. This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive determination for any other purpose.
As of February 11, 2011, 23,586,382 shares of the registrant’'s common stock were outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of Innospec Ir's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stodétbrs to be held on May 11, 2011 are incorporateceference into Part 11l of this Form -K.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT RELATIVE TO FORWARD-LOOKING ST ATEMENTS
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains certain “forward-looking&ments” within the meaning of the Private Semsikitigation
Reform Act of 1995. All statements other than stegets of historical facts included or incorporatedein may
constitute forward-looking statements. Such forwlaaking statements include statements (covereddys like
“expects”, “anticipates”, “may”, “believes” or sitar words or expressions), for example, which eetatoperating
performance, events or developments that we expeantticipate will or may occur in the future (inding, without
limitation, any of the Compang’guidance in respect of sales, gross marginsjgehabilities and charges, net incor
growth potential and other measures of financiglgpeance). Although forward-looking statements lagéeved by
management to be reasonable when made, cautiofddl®exercised not to place undue reliance on statements
because they are subject to certain risks, unoéigaiand assumptions, including in respect ofyéreeral business
environment, regulatory actions or changes. Ifrisles or uncertainties materialize or assumpticesgincorrect or
change, our actual performance or results mayrdifigterially from those expressed or implied bytstorward-
looking statements and assumptions. You are uedrefully review and consider the cautionaryestegnts and other
disclosures, including specifically those underhikading “Risk Factors”. The Company undertakesbiigation to
publicly update or revise any forward-looking staénts, whether as a result of new information,reuevents or
otherwise.
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PART |
ltem 1 Business

When we use the terms the “Corporation”, “CompariRegistrant”, “we”, “us”, and “our”, we are refeng to
Innospec Inc. and its consolidated subsidiariesn@spec”unless otherwise indicated or the context othervaeg@ires

General

Innospec develops, manufactures, blends and mdtdedtadditives, personal care and fragrance prisdaed other
specialty chemicals. Our products are sold primaailoil refineries, personal care and fragranaaganies, and other
chemical and industrial companies throughout thddv®ur fuel additives help improve fuel efficigndoost engine
performance and reduce harmful emissions. Our ajtgchemicals provide effective technology-basaldtsons for
our customers’ processes or products focused iRéigonal Care; Household, Industrial & Instituéibrand Fragrance
Ingredients markets.

Our principal executive offices are in LittletonglGrado. We became an independent company on Mal©Q®8, when
we were spun off from our then parent corporatibei@tura Corporation, previously known as Great sakbemical
Corporation. We changed our name from Octel Carjnthospec Inc. on January 30, 2006. On March Q@6 2ve
transferred the listing of our common stock frora New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) to the NatioAalsociation
of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations Stockketa(“NASDAQ").

Segmental Informatior

Innospec divides its business into three distiegnsents for both management and reporting purpéses$.Specialties,
Active Chemicals and Octane Additives. The Fuelcgpies and Active Chemicals businesses operateairkets
where we actively seek growth opportunities buirteed customers are different. The Octane Addstivesiness is
characterized by declining demand. For financisdrimation about each of our segments, see Notelsedfotes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Fuel Specialties

Our Fuel Specialties business develops, manufagthlends and markets a range of specialty chemioducts used
additives to a wide range of fuels. The businessigpizes in supplying fuel additives that help noye fuel efficiency,
boost engine performance and reduce harmful emissiche business’ products are used in the efticparation of
automotive, marine and aviation engines, poweitstagenerators, and heating and diesel partictilste systems.

Before 2005 the business had grown through a pmogfaacquisitions. More recently growth in the F8ekcialties
business has been driven by new product developto@adress what
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we believe are the key drivers in demand for faglitves. These key drivers include increased farutuel economy,
changing engine technology and legislative deveks We have devoted substantial resources tetelopment of
new and improved products that may be used to mgphael efficiency. Accordingly in our Fuel Speties segment
35% of our sales in 2010 were derived from proddetgeloped during the previous five years.

Active Chemicals

Our Active Chemicals business provides effectivht®logy-based solutions for our customers’ praegess products
focused in the Personal Care; Household, Indusrialstitutional; and Fragrance Ingredients markets

Historically the business had grown through a paiogof acquisitions. This program included the asitjon of Finetex
Inc. in January 2005, Innospec Widnes Limited irg@st 2004, and Innospec Leuna GmbH in June 200dctizfe
January 1, 2007 the businesses of Finetex, IncPam@hem Chemicals, Inc. were merged into Innogutive
Chemicals LLC. More recently, the business has grttwough the development and marketing of inn@egbroducts
to the personal care and fragrance industries.

The focus for our Active Chemicals business isdweeadop high performance products from its technplogse in a
focused number of markets.

Octane Additives

Our Octane Additives business, which is the wortiify producer of tetra ethyl lead (“TEL”), compesssales of TEL
for use in automotive gasoline and trading in respéour environmental remediation business.

Sales of the Octane Additives business are nowesdrated in a relatively small number of custonzard therefore
could decline in any one year with unpredictabliatitity and severity. The average rate of declmgolume terms in
demand for TEL in the last five years was approxetyal0% per annum. We continue to manage the dseria the
sales of TEL for use in automotive gasoline to nmaze the cash flow through the decline.

Our environmental remediation business assist®Ewest to manage the clean up of the associateddadtiplants as
refineries complete the move from leaded fuel.

Geographical Area

Financial information with respect to our domestintl foreign operations is contained in Note 3 efiXlotes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Strategy

Our strategy is to develop new and improved tedgiek to continue to strengthen and increase otkanhpositions
within our Fuel Specialties and Active Chemicalsibasses.

5
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Taking the segments together, in addition to trexaye organic revenue growth of 11% per annumasachge
operating income growth of 28% per annum, in tHasB#nesses since 2005, we also actively continasgess potent
strategic acquisitions, partnerships and other dppities that would enhance our customer offeritg. focus on
opportunities that would extend our technology bgsegraphical coverage or product portfolio. Wkelve that
focusing on the Fuel Specialties and Active Chelaisactors, in which the Company has existing egpee, expertise
and knowledge, provides the opportunities for pasiteturns on investment with lower operating risk

Working Capital

The nature of our customers’ businesses genegdilyires us to hold appropriate amounts of inventogrder to be
able to respond quickly to customers’ needs. Weethee require corresponding amounts of workingtehfor normal
operation. We do not, however, believe that thimaderially different to what our competitors datfwthe exception of
cetane number improvers, in which case we maittigin enough levels of inventory, as required, taireour position
as market leader in sales of these products).

The purchase of large tranches of some raw matdaabur Fuel Specialties business does create sgnificant
variation in working capital requirements, but th@se planned and well managed by the business.

We do not believe that our terms of sale, or teshaurchase, differ markedly from those of our cetitprs.
Raw Materials and Product Supp

We use a variety of raw materials and chemicatsimmanufacturing and blending processes and leetheat sources
for these are adequate for our current operatfonsmajor purchases are cetane number improvetisugasolvents
and ethylene.

These purchases account for a substantial portibredCompany’s variable manufacturing costs. Theaterials are,
with the exception of ethylene in Germany, readikilable from more than one source. Although ethglis, in theon
available from several sources, it is not permlsdib transport ethylene by road in Germany. Assallt, we source it
via a direct pipeline from a neighboring site, nmakit effectively a single source. Ethylene is uasda primary raw
material in products representing approximately@%e Company’s sales.

We use long-term contracts (generally with fixedtswmr formula based costs) to help ensure avhilahnd continuity
of supply, and to manage the risk of cost incredsassome raw materials the risk of cost increasasanaged with
commodity swaps.

The chemical industry, in general, is experiendame tightness in the supply of certain commodigyamals. We
continue to monitor the situation and adjust owcprement strategies as we deem appropriate. Thp&uy forecasts
its raw material requirements substantially in aabea and seeks to build long-term relationshipscamdractual
positions
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with supply partners to safeguard its raw matgreaitions. In addition, the Company operates aaresive risk
management program which seeks to source all keyaterials from multiple sources, and to develtheo
contingency plans.

Intellectual Property

Our intellectual property, including trademarkstgmas and licenses, forms a significant part ofGbenpany’s
competitive edge, particularly in the Fuel Spe@aland Active Chemicals businesses. The Compagy wlot,
however, consider its business as a whole to berdigmt on any one trademark, patent or license.

The Company has a portfolio of trademarks and paité&oth granted and in the application stage, moggroducts an
processes in several jurisdictions. The majorittheke patents were developed by the Company abgcs to
maintenance obligations including the payment oéveal fees, have at least 10 years’ life remaining.

The trademark “Innospec” and the Innospec devicg@lasses 1, 2 and 4 of the “International Classiitn of Goods
and Services for the Purposes of the Registrafidiaoks” are registered in all countries or jurisitbns in which the
Company has a significant market presence. The @oynalso has trademark registrations in all coastor
jurisdictions in which it has a significant markeesence for the following: Stac® (a range of conductivity improver:
Ortholeum® (a range of lubricant additives), Valvetea® (a range of anti valve seat recession addjtivegal Diesel
® (a range of diesel fuel additives), Sata€en (aeaigron-based organo-metallic fuel borne catalydEnviome® (a
range of biodegradable chelating agents), Natrlcug@srange of biodegradable chelants for perscar@)clselux” (a
range of innovative, sulfate-free surfactants ferspnal care) and Finsclv  (a range of benzoatesdstepersonal care
and cosmetic products).

We actively protect our inventions, new technolsgend product developments by filing patent aggilbeis and
maintaining trade secrets. In addition, we vigolppsirticipate in patent opposition proceedinguacbthe world,
where necessary, to secure a technology basertmearifringement of our intellectual property.

Customers
Fuel SpecialtiesOur customers are national oil companies, multometi oil companies and fuel retailers.

Active ChemicalsOur customers range from large multinational congsmand manufacturers of personal care and
household products, to specialty chemical manufac$woperating in niche industries.

Octane AdditivesSales of TEL for use in automotive gasoline areer@athcipally to the retail refinery market which
comprises state owned refineries focused in thedMigast and
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Northern Africa. Our environmental remediation Imgsis then serves these customers to manage thaupled the
associated redundant plants as refineries comipletenove away from leaded fuel.

We have sales contracts with customers using fixddrmula based prices, as appropriate, to mairgar gross
profits.

In 2010 the Company had one significant customénenFuel Specialties business, Royal Dutch Shekhpd its
affiliates (“Shell”), who accounted for $67.8 milli (10%) of net group sales. In 2009 and 2008l Slsebunted for
$76.1 million (13%) and $84.6 million (13%) of rggbup sales, respectively.

Competition

Fuel SpecialtiesThe Fuel Specialties market is fragmented and ckeniaed by a small number of competitors in each
submarket. The competitors in each submarket diffdr no one company holding a dominant positiothi& Fuel
Specialties market. We consider our competitiveeeidgoe our proven technical development capacitigpendence
from major oil companies and strong long-term retathips with refinery customers.

Active ChemicalsWe operate in three principal markets within Actt¥eemicals — Personal Care; Household,
Industrial & Institutional; and Fragrance Ingredernrhe Personal Care and Household, Industriadsgitutional
markets are both highly fragmented, and the Compapgriences substantial competition from a langaler of
multinational and specialty chemical suppliersaclegeographical region in which we operate. Tlagfmce
Ingredients market is more concentrated, with alsmianber of principal competitors. Our competitpesition in all
three markets is based on us supplying a supeliigtse product portfolio which solves particulastomer problems
or enhances the performance of new or existingymsd In a number of Specialty Chemicals markeésalgo supply
niche product lines, where we enjoy market-leagiogjtions.

Octane AdditivesOur Octane Additives business is the world’s onfydoaicer of TEL and accordingly is the only
supplier of TEL for use in automotive gasoline. Thusiness therefore competes with marketers ofystsdand
processes that provide alternative ways of enhgrmatane performance in automotive gasoline.

Research, Development, Testing and Technical Sup

Research, product/application development and teahsupport (“R&D”) provide the basis for the gritwof our Fuel
Specialties and Active Chemicals businesses. Aawglyd the Company’s R&D activity has been, and wdntinue to
be, focused on the development of new productd@mnaulations. Technical support is provided foraliour business
segments.
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Our principal R&D facilities are located in Newaibelaware; Spencer, North Carolina; and Ellesmer¢ &hd
Widnes, United Kingdom. Expenditures to support R&ddvices to customers were $17.6 million, $16 Hioniand
$14.8 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

We consider that our proven technical capabilityvpies us with a significant competitive edge.Ha tast three years,
the Fuel Specialties business has developed neasgeeit, cold flow, stabilizers, anti-foulants, ligdtty and combustion
improver products, in addition to the introductmimmany new cost effective fuel additive packagédss proven
technical capability is now also instrumental inpusducing innovative new products within our AetiChemicals
business including IseluX and Statsafe

Health, Safety and Environmental Mattei

We are subject to environmental laws in all of ¢bentries in which we conduct business. Manageielieves that tt
Company is in material compliance with all applieaénvironmental laws and has made appropriategoovfor the
continued costs of compliance with environmentaisla

The principal site giving rise to environmental emation liabilities is the Octane Additives maruitaing site at
Ellesmere Port, which is the last ongoing manuftactaf TEL. There are also environmental remedmali@bilities on &
much smaller scale in respect of our other manufag sites in the U.S. and Europe. At Ellesmerd Pere is a
continuing remediation program related to certaanofacturing units that have been closed. We relguiaview the
future expected costs of remediation and the cugstmate is reflected in Note 12 of the Noteth®Consolidated
Financial Statements.

We record environmental liabilities relating to tieéirement of assets and environmental clean ugnvihey are
probable and costs can be estimated reasonablyirMalves anticipating the program of work and aissociated futu
expected costs, and so involves the exercise ghpedit by management.

It is possible that new laws and regulations majnbreduced in the future that could result in dideial compliance
costs and prevent or inhibit the development, ithistion and sale of our products. The European b(i&U”) has
approved additional legislation known as the Regi&in, Evaluation and Authorization of ChemicabSiances
Regulations (“REACH”) which requires most of ther@many’s products to be registered with the Europ&aemicals
Agency. Under this legislation the Company hasaimadnstrate that its products are appropriate fr thtended
purposes. During this registration process andpetie Company will incur expense to test and tegiss products.
The Company estimates that the cost of complying REACH will be approximately $8 million over timext 7 years
While the Company expects that its products wilbbproved for registration after testing it is pblesthat certain
products may not ultimately be registered if thet tiata proves unsatisfactory. If that happenssate of some of the
Company’s products may be restricted or prohibiteithe EU.

9
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The Company may also be subject to legislatiomeaties, including those relating to global warmicignate change,
or carbon intensity, which could adversely imp&stosts or its ability to develop, manufacture seltlproducts. The
Company maintains an active risk management progvaith seeks to identify and mitigate threats $qoitoducts and
facilities from such changes.

Employees
The Company had approximately 850 employees iroR@tcies as at December 31, 2010.
Available Information

We file with the Securities and Exchange Commis$i&EC”) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1%&lamended
(the “Exchange Act”) our annual report on Form 10gKarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current repont$-orm 8-K,
and any amendments to those reports, proxy stateraed other documents. The public may read ang aop
materials that we file with the SEC at the SEC’bIRUReference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., WashimgD.C. 20549.
The public may also obtain information on the opiereof the Public Reference Room by calling theCS# 1-800-
SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains an Inteweb site at www.sec.gov that contains reporisxyand
information statements, and other information tegistrants, including the Company, file electralicwith the SEC.

Our corporate web site is www.innospecinc.com. \ékeravailable, free of charge, on or through the wite our
annual, quarterly and current reports, and any dments to those reports, as soon as reasonablycpide after
electronically filing such material with, or furhigg it to, the SEC. In addition, Innospec’s CogierGovernance
Guidelines, Code of Ethics and Director Independestandards, and the written charters for the cat@es of
Innospec’s Board of Directors are available on web site under “Investor Relations — Corporate €oance” and in
print upon request by writing to: Corporate Secasetlnnospec Inc., 8375 South Willow Street, Liible, Colorado,
80124.

The Company routinely posts important informationihvestors on its web site (under Investor Refw). The
Company uses this web site as a means of disclosatgrial, non-public information and for complyingh its
disclosure obligations under SEC Regulation FDr(B&closure). Accordingly, investors should monitee Investor
Information portion of the Company’s web site, d@ddion to following the Company’s press releasdsC filings,
public conference calls, presentations and webcasts

None of the above available information forms @éthis filing on Form 1-K, unless specifically incorporated by
reference elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
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ltem 1A Risk Factors

Our business is subject to many factors that condterially adversely affect our future performaacé cause our
actual results to differ materially from those ex@eced or implied by forward-looking statementsde@ this Annual
Report on Form 1@. Investing in our securities involves risks amd@dingly investors should carefully evaluate d
risks, including specifically those risk factorssdebed below, before deciding to invest in ounsies. Except as
otherwise indicated, these risk factors may or matyoccur and we cannot predict the likelihoodmf auch factor
occurring. Other risk factors may exist that wendt presently consider significant based on infdromethat is
currently available to us. In addition, new riskaynemerge at any time, and we cannot currentlyigirédtbse risks or
estimate the extent to which they may affect oturtei performance.

We are subject to regulation of our internationaperations that could adversely affect our businessl results of
operations.

Due to our global operations, we are subject toyntaws governing international commercial activitpnduct and
relations, including those that prohibit impropayments to government officials, restrict where atith whom we cal
do business, and limit the products, software,tanbdnology that we can supply to certain countuas customers.
These laws include but are not limited to the B-&eign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPAthe U.S. sanctions and ast¢
control programs administered by the U.S. Departroéthe Treasury, and the U.S. export control lawsh as the
Export Administration Regulations, as well as eqilent laws and regulations in other countries i@hvo our busines
operations. For example, a number of the counini@ghich we operate are known to experience comwa@nd our
operations there are subject to the risks of amtinogized payment or other improper activity by eh@ur employees
or agents, which could expose us to a liabilityemelevant laws, such as the FCPA, the United #&ang anti-bribery
laws, and other equivalent anti-bribery laws. Samyl, unauthorized activity or conduct by employeesgents in or
with foreign countries could cause us to be inatioh of sanctions and assets control programsmrecontrol laws.
Violations of any of these types of laws, which aften complex in their application, may resultnminal or civil
penalties that could have a material adverse efiecur business, financial condition and resultsperations.

As we have previously disclosed, the Company has & subject of investigations by U.S. and Unkkedydom
government authorities into certain legacy traneastconducted by the Company under the FCPA aridicether
laws and regulations as further discussed in “L&yateedings”, and in the first quarter of 201Geed into a $40.2
million settlement with the relevant governmenthawities to resolve all matters relating to theastigations. It is
possible that as a result of such settlement, tmagany could suffer loss of business, adverse ¢iahimpact,
administrative costs, damage to reputation andradvansequences on financing for current or futustness
opportunities.

11
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We may be required to make additional cash conttibuas to the defined benefit pension plan that weeoate in the
United Kingdom and recognize greater pension chage

The Company maintains a contributory defined beémpeinsion plan (the “Plan”) covering a number sfatirrent and
former employees in the United Kingdom. The Placlased to future service accrual but has a lawgeher of deferre
and current pensioners. A full triennial actuavialuation of the Plan was performed as at Decer@bg?008 and an
update performed as at December 31, 2010, thesadulhich are reflected in these consolidatedrftial statements.
At December 31, 2010 the underlying plan assetevahd Projected Benefit Obligation (“PBQO”) were 3&7million
and $684.0 million, respectively, resulting in dicieof $11.7 million.

Movements in the underlying plan asset value an@ B dependent on actual return on investmen&khas our
assumptions in respect of the discount rate, armeaiber mortality rates, future return on assetsyé pension
increases and future inflation. A change in any @intaese assumptions could impact the plan asde¢yvPBO and
pension cost recognized in the income statemeh Sianges could adversely impact our results efains and
financial position.

Since April 2010 the Company has been contribuB@ million ($9.1 million) per calendar year tetRlan in
accordance with a 1@ear actuarial deficit recovery plan agreed with titustees. Accordingly, the Company expect
annual cash contribution for 2011 to be approxitge#® million.

In addition, should future investment returns prosafficient to meet future obligations, or shotuture obligations
increase due to actuarial factors or changes isiperegislation, then the Company may be requivadake additione
cash contributions. This could adversely impactresults of operations, financial position and céshs.

Competition and market conditions may adverselyeatf our operating results.

Certain markets in which the Company’s businespesate are subject to significant competition. Toenpany
competes on the basis of a number of factors imodidbut not limited to, product quality and perf@ance, specialized
product lives, customer relationships and senaoe, regulatory and toxicological expertise. For eahour products
our competitors are larger than us and may hawe@raccess to financial, technological and otesources. As a
result, these competitors may be better able tptadachanges in conditions within the industriesvhich the
Company operates, fluctuations in the costs ofmmaerials or changes in global economic conditi@wmnpetitors
may also be able to introduce new products wittaanld features that may cause a decline in therdearad sales of
our products. Consolidation of customers or congesti or economic problems of customers, in theketaareas in
which the Company operates may cause a loss ofainsiniare for the Comparsyproducts, place downward pressur
prices, result in payment delays or non-paymentdsatining plant utilization rates. Any of thessks could adversely
impact our results of operations, financial positemd cash flows.

12
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We could be adversely affected by technologicalraes in our industry.

Our ability to maintain or enhance our technolobgagabilities, develop and market products andieguons that
meet changing customer requirements, and succlysaficipate or respond to technological changes cost effectiv
and timely manner will likely impact our future less success. The Company competes on the basisuohber of
factors including, but not limited to, product giiabnd performance. For some of our products oanetitors are
larger than us and may have greater access tacfalatechnological and other resources. Competitaay be able to
introduce new products with enhanced featuresniagt cause a decline in the demand and sales @roducts, and
accordingly could adversely impact our results mérations, financial position and cash flows.

Our reliance on a small number of significant custters may have a material adverse impact on our fesaf
operations.

Our principal customers are major multinational atate owned oil companies, and large multinatiomahufacturers
of personal care and household products. Theseatinelsiare characterized by concentration of aléege participants.
The loss of a significant customer, a material ofida in purchases by a significant customer, or-renewal of a
significant customer contract, could adversely iotaur results of operations, financial position @ash flows.

Our reliance on a small number of significant stobklders may have a material adverse impact on diaick price.

Approximately 35% of the Company’s common stockeatd by three stockholders. A decision by any esth
stockholders to sell all or a significant parttsfholding in the Company, or a sudden or unexpletitgposition of
Company stock, could result in a significant dezlim the Company’s stock price which could in tadversely impact
our ability to access equity markets which in toowlld adversely impact our results of operatiomsyfcial position an
cash flows.

We may have additional tax liabilities.

We are subject to income taxes and state taxé®ibliS., as well as numerous foreign jurisdicti@ignificant
judgment is required in determining our worldwideyasion for income taxes. In the ordinary coureur business
there are many transactions and calculations wheraltimate tax determination is uncertain. Altgbwve believe our
tax estimates are reasonable, the final determimati tax audits and any related litigation couddnbaterially different
to that which is reflected in our consolidated fioial statements. Should any tax authority takeasgith our estimate
this could adversely impact our results of operstjdinancial position and cash flows.
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Our success depends on our management team andrddée personnel, the loss of any of whom could dist our
business operations.

Our future success will depend in substantial parthe continued services of our senior manageri@etloss of the
services of one or more of our key personnel couftede implementation of our business plan andtrasteduced
profitability. Our future success will also depemdthe continued ability to attract, retain and inade highly-qualified
technical, sales and support staff. We cannot gieeahat we will be able to retain our key persbmmn that we will be
able to attract, assimilate or retain qualifiedspanel in the future. If we are unsuccessful ineftorts in this regard,
this could adversely impact our results of operajdinancial position and cash flows.

We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign curreneychange rates, which may adversely affect our fesof
operations.

The Company generates a portion of its revenuesnands some operating costs in currencies otlaar the U.S.
dollar. In addition, the financial position andukts of operations of some of our foreign subsidmare reported in the
relevant local currency and then translated to daBars at the applicable currency exchange fatenclusion in our
consolidated financial statements. Fluctuationsxichange rates between these foreign currenciethard. S. dollar
will affect the recorded levels of our assets aabilities, to the extent that such figures refléa inclusion of foreign
assets and liabilities which are translated int8.\dollars for presentation in our consolidatedficial statements, as
well as our results of operations.

The primary foreign currencies in which we havehexge rate fluctuation exposure are the Europeaonléuro and
British pound sterling. We cannot accurately prettie nature or extent of future exchange rateabdity amongst
these currencies or relative to the U.S. dollarilgwihe Company takes steps to manage currencysexpoincluding
entering into hedging transactions, it cannot elate all exposure to future exchange rate vartgblixchange rates
between these currencies and the U.S. dollar Hagti&ted significantly in recent years and mayticme to do so in
the future, which could adversely impact our resaftoperations, financial position and cash flows.

Sharp and unexpected fluctuations in the cost ofraaw materials and energy could adversely affeat @rofit
margins.

We use a variety of raw materials, chemicals amatggnin our manufacturing and blending processeswbf the raw
materials that we use are derived from petrochdrb@ased feedstocks which can be subject to penbdspid and
significant cost instability. These fluctuationsaost can be caused by political instability inpmbducing nations and
elsewhere, or other factors influencing global syjgmd demand of these materials, over which wes ligtle or no
control. We use long-term contracts (generally itbed costs or formula based costs) to help enavadability and
continuity of supply, and to manage the
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risk of cost increases. We have entered into hgdgirangements for certain raw materials, but ddypically enter
into hedging arrangements for all raw materialgnaitals or energy costs. Should the costs of ratemais, chemicals
or energy increase, and should we not be ablegs gathese cost increases to our customers, gezatmg margins
and cash flows from operating activities would deeasely impacted. Should raw material costs irsgesagnificantly,
then the Company’s need for working capital couldilarly increase. Any of these risks could advirsmpact our
results of operations, financial position and cidehs.

A disruption in the supply of raw materials or traportation services would have a material adversg@act on our
results of operations.

The transportation industry is in a situation wheupply and demand are currently broadly in balaHosvever, the
chemical industry, in general, is experiencing stigigness in the supply of certain commodity matsr When we
identify a situation where an imbalance may occaus @ccurring in raw materials or transportatienvices we may
build certain inventories of strategic importan&ay significant disruption in the supply of eithafrthese could affect
our ability to obtain raw materials or transpodatservices at accessible costs, if at all, whaliccadversely impact
our results of operations, financial position aadtcflows.

Continuing adverse global economic conditions coulthterially affect our current and future businesse

The ongoing concern about the stability of the ratigenerally and the strength of counterpartiesiipally has led
many lenders and institutional investors to redaogl, in many cases cease to provide, credit tombsses and
consumers. These factors have led to a substantiatontinuing decrease in spending by businessksasumers,
and a corresponding decrease in global infrastragpending. The availability, cost and terms efldrhave been, and
may continue to be, adversely affected by the foregfactors and these circumstances have prodacednay in the
future result in, illiquid markets and wider cresigreads. Continued turbulence in the U.S. andnat®nal markets at
economies, the generally restricted environmentfedit, and prolonged declines in business andwoer spending
could adversely impact our results of operatiomgrfcial position and cash flows.

We face risks related to our foreign operations thmaay adversely affect our business.

We serve global markets and accordingly operateitain countries which do not have stable econsmie
governments. Specifically, we trade in countriggegiencing political and economic instability iretMiddle East,
Northern Africa, Asia Pacific, Eastern Europe aaitS America regions. Our international operatiaressubject ti
international business risks including, but notited to, unsettled political conditions, risk ofpggpriation, import and
export restrictions, exchange controls, nationdl i@gional labor strikes, high or unexpected tagesernment
royalties and restrictions on repatriation of eagsior proceeds from liquidated assets of foreidpsisliaries. The
occurrence or imposition of any, or a combinatmirthese factors could adversely impact our resiltsperations,
financial position and cash flows.
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Failure to protect our intellectual property rightsould adversely affect our future performance andsh flows.

Our intellectual property, including trademarkstgmds and licenses, forms a significant part ofGbenpany’s
competitive edge. We therefore depend on our gltdidevelop and protect our intellectual propeigyts to
distinguish our products from those of our competit Failure to develop or protect our intellectuperty rights may
result in the loss of valuable technologies, orlwaring to pay other companies for infringing oaithntellectual
property rights. Measures taken by us to protecirdallectual property may be challenged, invatiedh circumvented
or rendered unenforceable. We may also face patiimgement claims from our competitors which nragult in
substantial litigation costs, claims for damagea tarnishing of our reputation even if we are sgstul in defending
against these claims, which may cause our customensitch to our competitors. The occurrence of, @n a
combination, of these events could adversely impactesults of operations, financial position aagh flows.

We are subject to extensive government regulation.

We are subject to regulation by local, state, fald@nd foreign government authorities. In someucnstances these
authorities must approve our products, manufaajysnocesses and facilities before we may sell rep@ducts. Man'
of the Company’s products are required to be regestwith the U.S. Environmental Protection Ageang with
comparable government agencies in the Europeamlamd elsewhere. We are also subject to ongoirigwsvof our
products, manufacturing processes and facilitiegdsernment authorities including the requirementroduce produ
data.

In order to obtain regulatory approval of certagwrproducts we must, amongst other things, dematestio the
relevant authorities that the product is appropratd effective for its intended uses, and thaargecapable of
manufacturing the product in accordance with applie regulations. This approval process can béycoishe
consuming, and subject to unanticipated and sicanti delays. Accordingly, we cannot provide asstedhat approva
will be granted on a timely basis, or at all. Arglal/ in obtaining, or any failure to obtain or ntain, these approvals
would adversely affect our ability to introduce npmducts and to generate income from those predlics possible
that new laws and regulations may be introduceterfuture that could result in additional comptiarcosts and
prevent or inhibit the development, distributiordaale of our products. While the Company expéwsits products
will obtain regulatory approval it is possible tlzatrtain products may not. In such an outcome sufittee Company’s
products may be restricted or prohibited in thésgliction where approval cannot be obtained, wismiid adversely
impact our results of operations, financial positemd cash flows.

Legal proceedings and other claims could impose sahtial costs on us

In addition to matters described in more detaltém 3 of Part | (“Legal Proceedings”), we are agonally involved in
legal proceedings that result from, and are indmldn, the conduct of our business, including emeé and product
liability claims. We have insurance
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coverage to mitigate anticipated potential damageswide variety of such proceedings, howeveouif insurance did
not cover such claims, this could adversely impactresults of operations, financial position aadtcflows.

Unexpected environmental matters could have a sahsal adverse impact on our results of operations.

The Company operates a number of manufacturing. sN&such, it is subject to extensive federatestacal and
foreign environmental, health and safety laws aglilations concerning emissions to the air, diggdsto land and
water and the generation, handling, treatment &pbdal of hazardous waste and other materialbesetsites. The
Company is also required to obtain various envirental permits and licenses, many of which requénoglic
notification and renewal.

The Company’s historic operations, and the histopierations of companies that have previously dpdran sites that
the Company has acquired, pose the risk of enviesrtah contamination. Discovery of unexpected comtation may
result in fines or criminal sanctions being imposegdinst the Company or may require the Compamayomaterial
remediation or fines to address the effects andrteediate this contamination.

The Company further anticipates that certain prédodacilities may cease production over the medto long-term.
On closure of some of our production operationhefuture, we expect to be subject to environmiéanes that will
require these facilities to be safely decommisgicened a degree of environmental remediation torakedaken. The
degree of environmental remediation required wepbeind on the plans for the future use of the ojpgrattes that are
affected and the environmental legislation in faait¢he time. The Company has currently made ardegssioning an
remediation provision based on the Company’s ctikieown obligations, the anticipated plans for theges and
existing environmental legislation. Should theraubexpected or unknown contamination at theseitiasil or the
Company’s future plans for the sites or environrakelegislation change, then current provisions m@ye inadequate
and this could adversely impact our results of appens, financial position and cash flows.

The terms of our finance facility may restrict owbility to incur additional indebtedness or to otiveise expand our
business.

The Company'’s finance facility contains restrictolauses which may constrain our activities andtlouar operational
and financial flexibility. The facility obliges thenders to comply with a request for utilizatidrfinance unless there
an event of default outstanding. Events of defardtdefined in the finance facility and include atenial adverse
change to our business, properties, assets, falasandition or results of operations. The facibgntains a number of
restrictions that limit our ability, amongst otltbings, and subject to certain limited exceptidasncur additional
indebtedness, pledge our assets as security, gearalpligations of third parties, make investmemtsliergo a merger
or consolidation, dispose of assets, or matercinge our line of business.
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In addition, the finance facility requires the Canp to meet certain financial ratios defined therecluding net debt
to EBITDA and net interest expense to EBITDA. EBA3 a non-GAAP measure of liquidity defined in tireance
facility. The ability to meet these financial coests depends upon the future successful operagirigrmance of the
businesses. If the Company fails to meet agre@ahdilal covenants then it would be in technical diéfander the
finance facility and the maturity of the Compangigstanding debt could be accelerated unless we a@e to obtain
waivers from our lenders. If the Company were fotmbe in default under the finance facility, thauld adversely
impact our results of operations, financial positemd cash flows.

The Company may choose to refinance some of tistiegidebt before the end of the remaining terrmefcurrent
finance facility. Should the Company not be ablsdoure refinancing on satisfactory terms thisaaalversely impact
our ability to capitalize on future business oppoities.

We may not be able to consummate, finance or susfidly integrate future acquisitions, partnerships other
opportunities into our business, which could hindeur strategy or result in unanticipated expensasddosses.

It is part of our stated strategy that we inten@uosue strategic acquisitions, partnerships anerapportunities to
complement and expand our existing businessesakllity to implement this component of our strategil be limited
by our ability to identify appropriate acquisitionartnerships or other opportunities and limitgdibancial resources,
including our available cash and borrowing capaaity the financial markets. The success of thassactions will
depend on our ability to integrate assets and pasacquired in these transactions, apply ournalecontrols
processes to these acquired businesses and ca@opérabur strategic partners. The expense incunmegdnsummating
acquisitions, partnerships or other opportunities,time it takes to integrate an acquisition, arfailure to integrate
businesses successfully, could result in unantegaxpenses and losses. The process of integeatqmgred
operations into our existing operations may reisulinforeseen operating difficulties and may reguignificant
financial resources that would otherwise be avélétr the ongoing development or expansion oftexgsoperations.
Furthermore, we may not realize the degree or ginbenefits we anticipate when we first entaraagaction. Any of
these risks could adversely impact our resultgpefations, financial position and cash flows.

Our business is subject to the risk of productionteansportation disruptions, the occurrence of amf which would
adversely affect our results of operations.

We are subject to hazards common to chemical matnufag, blending, storage, handling and transpiortancluding
fires, explosions, mechanical failure, extreme Wwegttransportation interruptions, remediation,nstval spills and the
release or discharge of toxic or hazardous subssafitiese hazards could result in loss of lifepgrty damage,
environmental contamination and temporary or peenaproduction cessation. Any, or a combinatiorthete factors
could adversely impact our results of operatiomgrfcial position and cash flows.
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Strikes or other forms of work stoppage or slowdowauld disrupt our business and lead to increasedts.

Adverse labor relations or contract negotiatiors tto not result in an agreement could resultrikest or slowdowns.
These disruptions could decrease our productiorsala$ or impose additional costs to resolve despahd adversely
impact our results of operations, financial positemd cash flows.

Failure to implement our common information systephatform successfully could adversely affect ourildlg to
conduct business.

We intend to commence a company-wide implementati@®11 of a new information system platform. Thatform
provider is well established in the market. Thelengentation will be a phased, risk-managed, sifdoyenent and
follow a multistage user acceptance program wighexisting platform providing a fallback positiorhere is a risk that
the new information system platform may cost mbemntprojected or we may not realize its anticipdeclefits. Either
or a combination, of these factors could adversepact our results of operations, financial positamd cash flows.

Domestic or international natural disasters or temrist attacks may disrupt our operations, decredise demand fol
our products or otherwise have an adverse impactoom business.

Chemical related assets, and U.S. corporationsasiclrselves, may be at greater risk of futuretist attacks than
other possible targets in the U.S., United Kingdiord throughout the world. Extraordinary events saghatural
disasters may negatively affect local economieduding those of our customers or suppliers. Th®ioence of such
events cannot be predicted though they can be tsgb&x continue to adversely impact the econongeimeral and our
specific markets. The resulting damage from sucevamt could include loss of life, property damagsite closure.
Any, or a combination, of these factors could adelrimpact our results of operations, financiadipon and cash
flows.

The inability of counterparties to meet their comictual obligations could have a substantial adversgact on our
results of operations.

The Company sells a range of specialty chemicatsistomers around the world. Credit limits, ongainedit
evaluation and account monitoring procedures agd ts minimize bad debt risk. Collateral is noteratly required.
The Company uses derivatives, including interdst savaps, commodity swaps and foreign currencydoivexchange
contracts, in the normal course of business to genaarket risks. The Company enters into derivatisgguments wit
a diversified group of major financial institutiomsorder to monitor the exposure to nhon-perforneaoicsuch
instruments. The Company has in place a finanandity with a syndicate of banks.

The Company remains subject to market and cregdis including the ability of counterparties to meetir contractual
obligations and the potential non-performance ainterparties to
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deliver contracted commodities or services at tregracted price. The inability of counterpartiesrteet their
contractual obligations could have an adverse itnpacesults of operations, financial position aadh flows.

Our Octane Additives business could decline fagtean expected.

The average rate of decline in volume terms in dehfar TEL in the last five years was approximatedpo per
annum. Net sales and gross profit of our OctanetAdg business accounted for approximately 11%31at%d,
respectively, of our consolidated sales and grosftjin 2010. The remaining sales of the Octanelifides business
are now concentrated in a relatively small numlieustomers and therefore could decline with unigtatlle volatility
and severity and adversely impact the Companyigéutesults of operations, financial position aadicflows. There
could also be an accelerated impairment of Octaigitives business goodwill, and impairment of Oet&alditives
intangible assets and property, plant and equipnasrthe forecast discounted cash flows from tbhainess would be
reduced. The Company expects that it will ceassaddls of TEL for use in automotive gasoline in201

Iltem 1B Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
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Item 2 Properties

A summary of the Company’s principal propertieshewn in the following table. Each of these praperis owned by
the Company except where otherwise noted:

Location
Littleton, Coloradc®

Newark, Delawar(®
High Point, North Carolin
Spencer, North Carolina

Ellesmere Port, United Kingdom

Singapore, Singapo®

Widnes, United Kingdom
Herne, German

Leuna, Germany
Vernon, France

Zug, Switzerlan«®
(1) Leased propert

Business and Business Segmg

Innospec Inc. and Innospec Fuel Specialties —Fuel
Specialties and Active Chemicals

Innospec Fuel Specialties LL- Fuel Specialtie:
Innospec Active Chemicals LL- Active Chemicals
Innospec Active Chemicals LLC — Active Chemicals

Innospec Limited — Fuel Specialties, Active Chersieand
Octane Additives

Innospec Asia Pacific Pte L— Fuel Specialties and Acti\
Chemicals

Innospec Widnes Limited — Active Chemicals

Innospec Deutschland Gmt- Fuel Specialtie:

Innospec Leuna GmbH — Fuel Specialties and Activergicals

Innospec France SA — Fuel Specialties

Alcor Chemie Vertriebs Gmbr Octane Additive:

Operations

Corporate Headquarte

Business Teams
Sales/Administratiol
Sales/Administratiol

Research & Developme
Manufacturing/Administratiol
Research & Developme
Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme

European Headquarters

Business Teams
Sales/Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Development

Fuel Technology Centt

Asia-Pacific Headquarte!

Business Teams
Sales/Administratiol
Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme
Sales/Manufacturing/Administratic
Research & Developme
Sales/Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme
Sales/Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme
Sales/Administratiol

The registered office of Innospec Inc. is located2® Continental Drive, Newark, DE 19713. The pipal executive
offices of Innospec Inc. are located at 8375 Savllow Street, Littleton, Colorado, 80124.
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Production Capacity

We believe that our plants and supply agreemestsu#ficient to meet expected future sales lev@fgerating rates of
the plants are generally flexible and varied witbduct mix and normal sales swings. We believe ahaif our
facilities are maintained to appropriate levels amgood operating condition though there remamsrmgoing need for
capital investment.

Item 3 Legal Proceedings

Resolution of the United Nations Oil for Food Progm (‘OFFP”) and U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act
(“FCPA”) investigations and U.S. Cuban Assets CoatiRegulations (“CACR”) matters

As we have previously disclosed, the Company has e subject of investigations by U.S. and Unkkedydom
government authorities into certain legacy traneastconducted by the Company and its subsidianegr the OFFP,
the FCPA, the CACR and United Kingdom anti-briblanys. The Company and its officers and directolly fu
cooperated during the investigations with the &&curities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), the D&partment
of Justice (“DOJ”), the U.S. Office of Foreign Ass€ontrol (“OFAC”) and the United Kingdom Seridtisaud Office
(“SFO”) (collectively, “Government Authorities”).
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In the first quarter of 2010, the Company entergd a $40.2 million settlement with the Governm&athorities to
resolve all matters relating to the investigatiohs part of this settlement the Company (i) pledtgin the U.S.
District Court for the District of Columbia to ad@lve count indictment alleging wire fraud under @EFP and
violations of the FCPA in relation to illegal paynte made to government officials in Iragq and Indae(ii) agreed to
pay to the DOJ a criminal fine of between $7.7 ionlland $14.1 million contingent on future tradangd to retain an
independent corporate compliance monitor for atléaee (3) years, subject to conditions which i@liow for a
reduction or extension of the term, (iii) agreedliggorge $11.2 million to settle a civil actiorobght by the SEC
alleging Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and FCiations for failing to maintain proper internairdrols and book
and records violations, (iv) agreed to a civil ggnaf $2.2 million to settle OFAC allegations ablations of the
CACR, and (v) pled guilty in the Southwark CrownuZtp England, to criminal charges of conspiracgaarupt relating
to the SFO investigation with a Crown Court penal$12.7 million. These fines, penalties and diggments are
expected to be payable over a period of four yaadsthe first payments aggregating to $10.0 milNi@re made to ea
of the DOJ, SEC, OFAC and Southwark Crown Courpmnil 2010. In September 2010 a payment of $2.3iomilwas
made to the DOJ which comprises a portion of the ¥hich is contingent on future trading. In Decem2010
payments of $6.7 million were made to the Goverrnimaerthorities. As at December 31, 2010, the expkstdedule of
payments is as follows:

Government Compliance
(in millions) Authorities Monitor Total
Fines, penalties and disgorgeme $ 40.z $ — $40.2
Probable future expens — 3.¢ 3.¢
Less discounting to net present va (0.7) — (0.7)
39.5 3.9 43.4
Amounts paid
— fixed (16.7) — (16.7)
— contingent on future tradir (2.5 — (2.5
Exchange effec 0.2 — 0.2
20.€ 3.9 24.F
Due within one yea (9.6 (1.3 (10.9)
$ 11.C $ 2.€ $ 13.€

For accounting purposes only, we are required uGdekP to discount elements of the fines, penakied
disgorgements to their net present value. As aeBéer 31, 2009, the Company had recorded totabalscfor
settlement of these matters of $42.7 million. Tleen@any accrued and has spent in excess of $3®milliassociated
legal and other professional expenses with a pavisf $0.9 million remaining as at December 311@0The
Company accrued $3.9 million in the first quarte2@10 in respect of probable future compliance noorexpenses.
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NewMarket Corporation complain

On July 23, 2010, NewMarket Corporation and itsssdiary, Afton Chemical Corporation (collectively,
“NewMarket”), filed a civil complaint against theo@pany and its subsidiary, Alcor Chemie Vertrielsl®l

(“Alcor”), in the U.S. District Court for the EasteDistrict of Virginia. The complaint makes cerntalaims against the
Company and Alcor with respect to alleged violagiof provisions of the Robinson-Patman Act, thegWila Antitrust
Act and the Virginia Business Conspiracy Act assult of alleged actions involving officials in ¢rand Indonesia
pertaining to securing sales of the Compartgtra ethyl lead fuel additive, to the apparettichent of the plaintiffs ar
their sales of a competing non-lead based fuelti@ddiThe complaint seeks treble damages of anaaigpd amount,
plus attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses. The Qoniggieves the complaint is without merit and imtte to defend it
vigorously, but because of uncertainties associatttdthe ultimate outcome of the complaint anddbsts to the
Company of responding to it, we cannot assure lgatithe ultimate costs and damages, if any, thgtbeamposed
upon us will not have a material adverse effecbwnresults of operations, financial position aadrcflows. As at
December 31, 2010 we had accrued $2.8 millionspeet of probable future legal expenses and prdvigeadditional
accruals in respect of this matter.

Patent Actions

The Company is actively opposing certain third pagtents in various regions of the world. Theawiare part of the
Company’s ongoing management of its intellectuapprty portfolio. The Company does not believe Hrat of these
actions will have a material effect on the finahcandition or results of operations of the Company

Other Legal Matters

There are no other material pending legal procegsdio which the Company or any of its subsidiaises party, or of
which any of their property is subject, other tloadinary, routine litigation incidental to theirsective businesses,
although an adverse resolution of an unexpectedfjelnumber of these individual items could inabggregate have a
material adverse effect on results of operationgfparticular year or quarter. We are involvedrfriime to time in
claims and legal proceedings that result from, amedncidental to, the conduct of our businessuigiclg business and
commercial litigation, employee and product liggiklaims.

ltem 4 Removed and Reserve:
Not applicable
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PART Il

Item 5 Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer
Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information and Holders

The Company’s common stock is listed on the NASDA¢ZImbol — IOSP). As of February 11, 2011 there were
approximately 1,251 registered holders of the comstock. The following table shows the closing hégta low prices
of our common stock for each of the last eight tgrar

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2010
High $12.31] $14.5¢ $15.2¢ $22.4(
Low $ 8.6¢ $ 9.3¢ $ 8.6¢ $15.3¢
2009
High $ 6.31 $11.31 $15.6: $15.41
Low $ 2.7¢ $ 3.9t $10.0( $ 8.8¢
Dividends
The Company declared and paid the following casiueind:
Date Declared Stockholders of Recorc Date Paid Amount per Share
February 23, 200 March 16, 200¢ April 6, 2009 5 cents

On February 6, 2009 we entered into a three-yeaante facility which contains no restrictive covetsawith respect to
dividends and the Company is allowed to repurcitasevn common stock provided that it does notafémmpliance
with the financial covenants in this facility.

Related Stockholder Matters

On June 12, 2009 the Board of Directors of the Camgmapproved a stockholder rights plan (the “Plaim’connection
with the Plan a dividend was declared of one pretestock (designated as Series B Junior Partingp&referred
Stock) right for each outstanding share of Innodpeccommon stock (each a “Right”). The Rightseltied to all
common stock certificates representing sharesandstg on June 26, 2009, the record date. Sulgexrtain
exceptions, the Rights are exercisable only ifr@q®or group acquires 15% or more of Innospecsdimommon stock,
including through derivatives, or announces a tendexchange offer which would result in ownersbid5% or more
of the common stock (an “Acquiring Person”). EaggiRR entitles its holder to buy one one-thousaradth share of
Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock adxarcise price of $55, subject to adjustmentidityt the Rights are
not exercisable and will be transferred with anty evith
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the Companys common stock. Following the acquisition of 15%mre of Innospec Inc. common stock by a persc
group, the holders of the Rights (other than thgquiing Person or group) will be entitled to pursbahares of

common stock at one-half the market price of sinares, and, in the event of a subsequent merggher acquisition
of the Company, to buy shares of common stock@®gttquiring entity at one-half of the market pratehose shares.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

(c) Total Number (d) Approximate
of Shares Dollar Value of
Purchased as Shares that
Part of the May Yet be
(a) Total Number (b) Average Publicly Purchased
Announced Under the Plans
of Shares Price Paid Plans or
Period Purchased per Share Programs or Programs
Carried forwarc — — — —
October 1- October 31 — — — —
November 3 approvi — — $ 5.0 million
November - November 3( 125,64! $ 19.7¢ 125,64! $ 2.5 million
December — December 3: — — — $ 2.5 million
Total 125,64! $ 19.7¢ 125,64! $ 2.5 million

Repurchases of common stock are held as treasargsshinless reissued under equity compensatios.plan

On November 3, 2010 the Company announced th&dhed of Directors had authorized share repurchasdsr Rule
10b5-1 and/or 10b-18 repurchase plans of up to®#lidn of common stock annually in 2010, 2011 &@d 2,
dependent on market conditions. The first Rule 1Dlb&purchase program under the new plan commented
November 8, 201(

During January 2011 the Company repurchased 11682@s at a cost of $2.3 million.

The Company has authorized securities for issuander equity compensation plans. The informatiant&ioed in the
table under the heading “Equity Compensation Planffie Proxy Statement is incorporated hereindbgrence. The
current limit for the total amount of shares whaan be issued or awarded under the Company’s figeesoption plans
is 1,790,000.

The Company has not, within the last three yeasglenany sales of unregistered securities.
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Stock Price Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total netioiistockholders on the common stock of the Carjoan, S&P
500 Index, NASDAQ Composite Index and Russell 20@igx since December 31, 2005, assuming a $10Gtiment
and the re-investment of any dividends thereafter.

Innospec Inc. vs S&F 300, NASDAQ Composite and Russell 2000 Indices
Total Remm to Shareholders since December 31, 205

350

30}

1, 2005

A —
e

50

nvestmenl made December

of §100 1

alue

v

2005 2006 2007 2008 2008 2010

== [nnospec Ing —l— S&P 500 ——MNASDAQ Composile — Russedl HHX)

Value of $100 Investment made December 31, 2005*
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Innospec Inc 100.0C 288.1: 214.2¢ 75.2¢ 131.5¢ 265.9¢
S&P 500 Inde» 100.0C 113.6: 103.5¢! 61.51 123.4¢ 112.7¢
NASDAQ Composite Inde 100.0C 109.5: 109.8. 59.4¢ 143.8¢ 116.9:
Russell 2000 Inde 100.0C 117.0¢ 97.2¢ 65.2( 125.2: 125.3:

* Excludes purchase commissions.
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ltem 6 Selected Financial Date
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(in millions, except financial ratios,

share and per share data) 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Summary of performance
Net sales $ 683.2 $ 598.t $ 640.f $ 602. $ 532.1
Impairment of Octane Additives business Good (2.2 (2.2) (3.7 (22.1) (36.7)
Operating incom: 72.2 20.7 43.€ 47.C 31.¢€
Income before income tax 70.7 18.z 18.¢ 47.¢ 31.¢
Income taxe: 3.C (11.9 (6.3 (18.2) (20.9
Net income 73.7 6.4 12.€ 29.€ 115
Net income attributable to the r-controlling interes — — (0.2) (0.7 (0.2
Net income attributable to Innospec Ii 73.7 6.4 12.t 29.t 11.2
Net cash provided by operating activit 58.2 87.4 14.4 47.¢ 36.4
Financial position at year end
Total asset 548.: 543.1 494.: 551.1 569.(
Long-term debt (including current portio 47.C 51.C 73.C 81.C 148.1
Cash and cash equivalents, and «term investment 111.2 68.€ 13.¢ 24.% 101.¢
Stockholder equity $ 300.7 $ 157.¢ $ 229.c $ 271t $ 225.(
Financial ratios
Net income attributable to Innospec Inc. as a perogsales 10.€ 11 2.0 4.9 2.1
Effective income tax rate as a perc® (4.2 65.C 33.2 38.1 63.¢
Current ratic® 2.C 1.€ 14 1.6 2.1

Share data®
Earnings per share attributable to Innospec

- Basic $ 3.1C $ 0.27 $ 0.5¢% $ 1.2t $ 047
— Fully diluted $ 2.97 $ 0.2¢ $ 0.51 $ 1.1¢ $ 0.4
Dividend paid per shai $ — $ 0.0f $ 0.1C $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Shares outstanding (basic, thousai

— At year enc 23,70¢ 23,66« 23,59¢ 23,77 23,80¢
— Average during yee 23,75¢ 23,64 23,59t 23,92( 24,14
Closing stock prict

— High $ 22.4( $ 15.6¢ $ 25.2¢ $ 31.8- $ 24.2(
—Low $ 8.6¢ $ 2.7¢ $ 4.54 $ 16.2¢ $ 8.3¢
— At year enc $ 20.4( $ 10.0¢ $ 5.8¢ $ 17.1¢ $ 23.2¢

(1) The effective tax rate is calculated as a percentdgncome before income tax
(2) Currentratio is defined as current assets divimedurrent liabilities

(3) On June 18, 2007 the Company announced that thelBbé®irectors had approved -for-1 stock split to be effected in the form c
100% stock dividend. Stockholders of record asutf 8, 2007 received one additional share of Ineedpc. common stock for every
share they owned on that date. The shares werédisd on July 20, 2007. Stock option holders ik one additional option for every
option they held and the original exercise pricagiiese options were halved to reflect the stptik §he table above has been
retrospectively adjusted for this stock sg
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QUARTERLY SUMMARY (UNAUDITED)

(in millions,
except per share data)

2010

Net sales
Gross profit
Operating incom:
Net income attributable to Innospec |®
Net cash provided by operating activit
Per common shar

Earnings basic

— fully diluted

2009

Net sales
Gross profit
Operating income/(los:

Net income/(loss) attributable to Innospec [

Net cash provided by operating activit
Per common shar
Earnings/(loss- basic
— fully diluted ®

NOTES

(1) Special items during the year ended December 310 20mprised the following

(in millions)

2010

OFFP/FCPA settlement accrt

OFFP/FCPA legal and professional exper
Civil complaint legal and professional expen
Retention bonuse

Pension charg

Restructuring charg

Foreign currency exchange (losses)/qgi
Adjustment of income tax provisiol

(2) Special items during the year ended December 319 20mprised the following

(in millions)

2009

OFFP/FCPA settlement accrt

OFFP/FCPA legal and professional exper
Prior year’ United Kingdom sales tax settlems
Gain on forfeited stock optior

Pension charg

Restructuring charg

Foreign currency exchange (losses)/gi
Adjustment of income tax provisiol

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
$163.t $168.< $174.( $177.C

52.2 54.7 55.4 54.¢

11.: 24.¢ 20.€ 15.2

74 12.C 30.C 24.:
$ 84 $ 12.C $ 22.C $ 15.¢
$ 0.31 $ 0.5C $ 1.2¢ $ 1.0z
$ 0.3C $ 0.4¢ $ 1.2C $ 0.9¢
$148.1 $137.C $149.2 $164.-

50.2 40.¢ 47 .2 51.1

18.2 6.1 .7 (1.9

6.4 3.C (2.7 (0.3)
$ 27.c $ 18.c $11.1 $ 30.7
$027 $0.1f  $(0.11)  $(0.07)
$02 $01z $(0.1)  $(0.01)

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
$ 3.C $ — $ — $ —
3.9 — — —
— — (1.0 (3.9)
— — — (2.3
(3.9) (2.2) (2.5) (2.4)
(8.2 (0.3 — (0.2
(0.2) (10.9) 11.€ 2.€
$ — $ 5.C $ 4.2 $ 3.C
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
$ — $ — $(18.9) $(21.9
(7.0 (5.9 — —
— — — 2.5

24 — — —
(1.5) (1.5) 1.7 1.7
(1.9 (0.4) - (1.1
(7.7 04 7.C 3.2

$ — $ — $ — $ 2.3

(3) Inview of the fact that net losses of $(0.3)ion and $(2.7) million were made in the fourthayter, 2009 and third quarter, 2009,



respectively, the basic and fully diluted loss p@mmon share are the same for those qua
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Item 7 Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of
Operations

This discussion should be read in conjunction with consolidated financial statements and the rtbegto.
GENERAL

We divide our business into three distinct segmémtboth management and reporting purposes: Fueti8lties,
Active Chemicals and Octane Additives. The Fuelcgpies and Active Chemicals businesses operateairkets
where we actively seek growth opportunities. Théa®e Additives business is characterized by dedidiemand.

The Fuel Specialties business develops, manufagthiends and markets a range of specialty chemroducts used
additives to a wide range of fuels. The businessvgnitially through a program of acquisitions andre recently,
organically, through the development of new produand increases in sales and profitability.

The Active Chemicals business provides effectichnelogy-based solutions for our customers’ praeess products
focused in the Personal Care; Household, Indusriaktitutional; and Fragrance Ingredients markétss business
has also grown through acquisitions and more rgctémbugh the development and marketing of innmeaproducts ti
the personal care and fragrance industries.

The Octane Additives business is the world’s omtydpicer of tetra ethyl lead (“TEL”) for use in aototive gasoline
and trading in respect of our environmental renmteghabusiness. We are continuing to manage theedserin the sales
of TEL for use in automotive gasoline to maximiae tash flow through the decline. Continuous aogrovement
measures have been, and will continue to be, takezspond to declining market demand.

For the year ended December 31, 2010, the comloiperhting income of the Fuel Specialties and Acivemicals
segments of our business has grown by an averaZgd6iper annum, as compared with the year endedrissr 31,
2005, and now drives the operating income genefaterlir businesses. By comparison operating indomie
Octane Additives segment declined from $69.2 millio $25.8 million over the same period. The Octadditives
segment of our business will continue to declinghadast remaining countries that continue tovalldeL for use in
automotive gasoline move away from leaded gasoWe expect that we will cease all sales of TELU®e in
automotive gasoline in 2012, and that we will coad to impair the Octane Additives business goddwatiil or prior tc
that point. However, we have succeeded in implemgmur strategic plan of creating sufficient grbvn the Fuel
Specialties and Active Chemicals segments of osmiess to more than offset the decline in the Qcteiditives
business.

We use a variety of raw materials and chemicatsimmanufacturing and blending processes and leetheat sources
for these are adequate for our current operatiRas. materials account for a substantial portioawfvariable
manufacturing costs. These materials are, with
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the exception of ethylene in Germany, readily aldé from more than one source. We use long-temtracts
(generally with fixed costs or formula based cogid)elp ensure availability and continuity of slyp@and to manage
the risk of cost increases. For some raw matethalsisk of cost increases is managed with commaaps.
Nevertheless, raw materials are subject to costuations and we may be exposed to risk as costesé raw materie
increase as a result of factors that are not wikincontrol.

We are subject to extensive regulation by locakestfederal and foreign government authoritief both respect to th
methods by which we manufacture and market procaradshow we conduct our business. In that regaecane
exposed to risks that we may incur liabilities @odts in order to conform to required regulationgsidhe event that w
fail to comply with any laws or regulations.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Our objective is to clearly present our financrdbrmation in a manner that enhances the undeiisiguodl our sources
of earnings and cash flows together with our finalngosition. We aim to achieve this by disclosinfprmation
required by the SEC together with further informaatthat provides insight into our businesses.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@idition and Results of Operations discusses Irewsp
consolidated financial statements which have beepgsed in accordance with accounting principlesegaly accepte
in the United States of America. The preparatiothete consolidated financial statements requigsagement to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of assets and liabilities, the dissl®f contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the consw@difinancial statements, and the reported amaints/enues and
expenses during the reporting period. Managemaeitiates on an on-going basis its estimates anadvjadts.
Management bases its estimates and judgments tonitas experience and on various other factorsdha believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the redwitisich form the basis for making judgments altbetcarrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not fgagiparent from other sources. Actual results ohiffgr from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditibilase 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finarfstatements
includes a summary of the significant accountinkicpes and methods used in the preparation of dmsalidated
financial statements.

Our consolidated financial statements and suppléngdata disclose our accounting principles amedntiethods and
estimates used in the preparation of those coraelidfinancial statements. We believe those statenaad disclosure
represent fairly the results of operations, finahposition and cash flows of the Company. The psepof this portion
of our report is to further emphasize some of tloeencritical areas where a significant change atsfand
circumstances in our operating and financial emritent could cause a change in results of operatiofisancial
position. The policies and estimates that the Campgansiders the most critical in terms of subjatstiand judgment
of assessment are provided below.
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Contingencies

We are subject to legal, regulatory and other prdogys and claims. The Company discloses informatamcerning
contingent liabilities in respect of these claims @proceedings for which an unfavorable outconmaase than remote
and the potential loss could materially impact @msults of operations, financial position and céevs. We recognize
liabilities for these claims and proceedings whasa probable that the Company has incurred adasgsthe amount of
the loss can be reasonably estimated and to faielgent, in conjunction with the disclosures okthmatters in our
consolidated financial statements, managementis gfeour exposure. We review outstanding claims groteedings
with external counsel as appropriate to assesapiitly and estimates of loss. The Company willogrzize within
selling, general and administrative expenses ditialelated to claims and proceedings at suctetams an unfavorable
outcome becomes probable and the amount can beneddg estimated. When the reasonable estimateaisge, the
recognized liability will be the best estimate wiitlhe range. If no amount in the range is a besémate than any
other amount then the minimum amount of the ranigjéde recognized. The Company recognizes its legal other
related professional expenses within selling, garaard administrative expenses as and when theiatsib course of
action is committed to.

We re-evaluate these assessments each quartenewasd significant information becomes availdbldetermine
whether a liability should be recognized or if axysting liability should be adjusted. The actuadtoof ultimately
resolving a claim or proceeding may be substagtdifferent from the amount of the recognized ligpi In addition,
because it is not permissible to recognize a lighiintil the loss is both probable and estimalrlesome cases there
may be insufficient time to recognize a liabilitsigyr to the actual incurrence of the loss (upordiegtrand judgment at
trial, for example, or in the case of a quickly oggted settlement).

Environmental Liabilities

Remediation provisions at December 31, 2010 amdunt&25.9 million and relate principally to oudddmere Port
site. The Company records environmental liabilitidgen they are probable and costs can be estimatsdnably. The
Company has to anticipate the program of work meguand the associated future expected costs,amntbltomply
with environmental legislation in the relevant ctrigs. The Company views the costs of vacatingei@smere Port
site as a contingent liability because there ipmsent intention to exit the site. The Companyfuebler determined
that, due to the uncertain product life of TEL,tmadarly in the market for aviation gasoline, th@xists such
uncertainty as to the timing of such cash flowd thia not possible to estimate them sufficientiably to recognize a
provision.
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Goodwill

The Company tests goodwill annually for impairmemtbetween years if events occur or circumstanbhaage which
suggest that an impairment may have occurred.

The Company elected to perform its annual testespect of Fuel Specialties and Active Chemicatsdgoll as at
December 31 each year. In reviewing for any impairticharge the fair value of the reporting unitdartying the
segments is estimated using an after tax cashrfletihodology based on management’s best availatiheadss at that
time. The key assumptions underpinning these caiouls include future revenue growth, gross margintthe
Company’s weighted average cost of capital. At Dewmer 31, 2010 we had $108.9 million and $30.1 omillof
goodwill relating to our Fuel Specialties and Aeti@hemicals businesses, respectively. At thiswatperformed
annual impairment tests and concluded that thesdoban no impairment of goodwill in respect of thosporting
segments.

In light of the continuing decline in the Octanedid/es market globally, as the Company makes s#i€xctane
Additives in each quarter, the remaining salesa@mtesponding cash flows that can be derived fimenQctane
Additives business are reduced, and accordinglydinealue of the Octane Additives reporting usiteduced. As a
result, the Company determined that quarterly immpant tests be performed from January 1, 2004 agpdnapairment
charge arising be recognized in the relevant quakiea result of the Octane Additives impairmesst$ performed
during 2010, 2009 and 2008 impairment charges ¢ ##llion, $2.2 million and $3.7 million, respeatly, have been
recognized. These charges are non-cash in natdreaare no impact on taxation. There is $4.6 milbidigoodwill
remaining at December 31, 2010 which relates t@itkane Additives business. Given the quantum aedigtability
of the remaining future cash flows from the Octawlglitives business the Company expects goodwillaimmpent
charges to be recognized in the income statemean@pproximate straight-line basis to Decembef312.

We believe that the assumptions used in our arandgfuarterly impairment tests are reasonablehbatithey are
judgmental, and that variations in any of the agsttons may result in materially different calcutats of impairmen
charges, if any.

Intangible Assets, Net of Amortization

At December 31, 2010 we had $19.0 million of inthtes that are discussed in Note 9 of the NotekddConsolidated
Financial Statements. These intangible asseter&atll of our business segments and are beingtaew straight-line
over periods of up to 13 years. We continually ss$lee markets and products related to these iblasgas well as
their specific carrying values, and have concluithed these carrying values and amortization peniedsain
appropriate. We also evaluate these intangiblearfgrpotential impairment when events occur oruitstances chan
which suggest that an impairment may have occulf@dents occur or circumstances change it magiplyscause a
reduction in periods over which these intangiblesaanortized or result in a non-cash impairmera pbrtion of the
intangibles’ carrying value. A reduction in amoatin periods would have no effect on cash flows.
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Pensions

The Company maintains a contributory defined beépefnsion plan (the “Plan”) covering a number sfatirrent and
former employees in the United Kingdom, althougtiaés also have other much smaller pension arrasgsrn the
U.S. and overseas. The Plan is closed to futuxécgeaccrual but has a large number of deferredcanent pensionel
A full triennial actuarial valuation of the Plan svperformed as at December 31, 2008 and an updeteped as at
December 31, 2010, the results of which are reftbat these consolidated financial statements. édeinber 31, 2010
the underlying plan asset value and Projected BeDbfigation (“PBO”) were $672.3 million and $684million,
respectively, resulting in a deficit of $11.7 noh.

Movements in the underlying plan asset value an@ B dependent on actual return on investmen&khas our
assumptions in respect of the discount rate, armeaiber mortality rates, future return on assetsyé pension
increases and future inflation. A change in any @intaese assumptions could impact the plan asde¢yvPBO and
pension cost recognized in the income statemeh Sianges could adversely impact our results efains and
financial position. A 0.25% change in either thecdunt rate assumption, or level of price infla@asumption, would
change the PBO by approximately $25 million andrtéepension charge for 2011 by approximately $dilion.

Further disclosure is provided in Note 6 of the é¢oto the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance and Uncertai Income Tax Positions

At December 31, 2010, we had a valuation allowaggregating $10.8 million against part of our fgrefax credit
carry forwards within deferred tax. The valuatidlowance requires an assessment of both negat@asitive
evidence when measuring the need for a valuatiowahce. Objective evidence, such as operatingtseguring the
most recent periods, is given more weight thanesyectations of future profitability, which are evently uncertain. |
our view, there are uncertainties around whetHehalforeign tax credits carry forwards can béadd in future
periods and this represents sufficient negativdene to require a partial valuation allowance.

The calculation of our tax liabilities involves éwating uncertainties in the application of complax regulations. We
recognize liabilities for anticipated tax audituses based on our estimate of whether, and thetexterhich, additional
taxes will be required. If we ultimately determith@t payment of these amounts is unnecessary,weeseethe liability
and recognize a tax benefit during the period iictviive determine that the liability is no longecassary.

We also recognize tax benefits to the extent thatmore likely than not that our positions wi# Bustained when
challenged by the taxing authorities. To the extemiprevail in matters for which liabilities havedn established, or
are required to pay amounts in excess of our lteds| our effective tax rate in a given period nb@ymaterially
affected. An
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unfavorable tax settlement may require cash paysreerd result in an increase in our effective té imthe year of
resolution. A favorable tax settlement may be recegd as a reduction in our effective tax ratehmyear of resolutiol
We report interest and penalties related to uniceitaome tax positions as income taxes. For aufthti information
regarding uncertain income tax positions see Naiktiie Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statéme

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Results of Operations — Fiscal 2010 compared to €&l 2009:

The following table provides operating income byaeing business and also the comparative restiiperations in
2009 and 2008.

2010 2009 2008
(in millions)
Net sales
Fuel Specialtie $ 458.1 $ 4227 $ 440.¢
Active Chemicals 152.7 130.z 138.:
Octane Additive: 72.4 45.€ 61.2

$ 683.2 $ 598.t $ 640.

Gross profit

Fuel Specialtie $ 147.] $ 147.C $ 145.¢
Active Chemicals 34.1 26.€ 12.&
Octane Additive: 36.C 15.z 28.¢

$ 217.- $ 189.: $ 186.4

Operating income

Fuel Specialtie $ 77.¢ $ 814 $ 80.C
Active Chemicals 16.7 8.8 (5.0
Octane Additive: 25.€ (44.¢) 1.2
Pension charg (20.§) (6.4) (2.9
Corporate cost (26.9) (13.9) (24.9)
Restructuring charg (8.7) (2.9 (2.2)
Impairment of Octane Additives business good (2.2 (2.2) (3.7)
Profit on disposal, ne 0.1 — 04
Total operating incom $ 72z $ 20.7 $ 43¢
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(in millions, except ratios) 2010 2009 Change

Net sales

Fuel Specialtie $ 458.] $422.7 $ 35.4 +8%

Active Chemicals 152.% 130.Z 22.5 +17%

Octane Additive: 72.4 45.¢ 26.¢ +59%
$ 683.2 $ 598.t $ 84. +14%

Gross profit

Fuel Specialtie $ 147.1 $ 147.2 $ (0.1 nle

Active Chemicals 34.1 26.€ 7.3 +27%

Octane Additive: 36.C 15.c 20.7 +135%
$217.2 $ 189.: $ 27.¢ +15%

Gross margin (%)

Fuel Specialtie 321 34.8 -2.7

Active Chemicals 22.3 20.6 +1.7

Octane Additive: 49.7 33.6 +16.1

Aggregate 31.8 31.6 +0.2

Operating expense:

Fuel Specialtie $ (67.9) $ (63.€) $ (3.7 +6%

Active Chemicals (16.0 (16.€) 0.€ -4%

Octane Additive: (9.7) (59.0 49.¢ -85%

Pension charg (10.§) (6.4) (4.9) +6%%

Corporate cost (26.9) (13.9) (13.0) +98%
$(129.5) $(158.9) $ 29. -19%

Fuel Specialties

Net salesthe table below details the components which caseghe year on year change in net sales spreassabm
markets in which we operate.

Change (%) Americas EMEA ASPAC Avtel Total
Volume +6 +8 +75 +8 +15
Price and product mi -1 +2 -37 +4 -4
Exchange rate n/e -7 -1 n/e -3

+5 +3 +37 +12 +8

Gross marginthe year on year decrease of 2.7 percentage pwimarily reflects the competitive pressure on nrasg
as raw material costs have increased in 2010.Wasspartially offset by the impact of higher masggwithin our Avtel
business from increased TEL production volumesherfiked cost base on the TEL manufacturing site.

Operating expensehe year on year increase of 6% was less than%hgrBwth in sales as we continued to leverage
the infrastructure of this business. In addititvere were 3% higher research and development espémsupport this
developing business and increased legal and othéxgsional expenses.
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Active Chemicals

Net salesthe table below details the components which caoseghe year on year change in net sales spreassabm®
markets in which we operate.

Americas EMEA ASPAC Total

Change (%)
Volume +1¢ -1 +7 +7
Price and product mi +7 +15 +17 +12
Exchange rate -1 -4 -2 -2
+28 +1C +22 +17

Gross marginthe year on year increase of 1.7 percentage pafiexts the improved performance from our Personal
Care and Polymers businesses, which suffered fimmm giemand in 2009, despite the competitive pressom margins
as raw material costs have increased in 2010.

Operating expenseghe year on year reduction of 4% or $0.6 milliorsvaghieved despite the 17% sales growth and
28% increase in research and development expemsegport this developing business, primarily duthe favorable
impact of exchange rates on our European costdraséght cost control.

Octane Additives

Net salesincreased by 59% due to increased volumes (up A pige points), as a result of the timing of stapts
to major customers, and an improved sales mix dupetcentage points). In both 2010 and 2009 sades fecused in
the Middle East and Northern Africa.

Gross marginthe year on year increase of 16.1 percentage paimrily reflects the increased TEL production
volumes on the fixed cost base on the TEL manufexgjsite.

Operating expensesxcluding the impact of the $12.9 million OFFP &©@PA legal and other professional expenses
and $40.2 million accrual for the OFFP and FCPAlexgient in 2009, and $3.0 million adjustment to rtblated
settlement accrual in 2010, the year on year iser@aoperating expenses was $6.2 million duedeeased selling
costs and higher legal and other professional esggen

Other Income Statement Captions

Pension chargethis non-cash charge increased by $4.4 millionl{®.& million primarily reflecting the requirement i
2010 to amortize actuarial net losses, offset byridar elimination of the service cost since them@any closed the
pension plan to future service accrual with effemtn March 31, 2010.

Corporate costsincreased by $13.0 million due to a $3.9 milliormxde in the first quarter of 2010 for probable fatu
independent corporate compliance monitor expensastbe next three years. In 2009 corporate costaded a $2.4
million gain on stock options forfeited

37



Table of Contents

upon resignation of the Company'’s former CEO af8@.& million benefit from a prior yeart/nited Kingdom sales te
settlement. Excluding these items, corporate ceste $22.4 million, compared with $18.2 million @ay ago,
reflecting the higher personnel-related costsuiticlg retention bonuses, and the increased cadtayhative pension
arrangements following the closure of the pensian po future service accrual with effect from Ma&1, 2010.

Restructuring chargerestructuring costs are comprised of the following:

(in millions) 2010 2009
Pension curtailmer $8.2 $—
Reduction in EMEA headcou 0.5 0.2
Separation agreement with the former C — 1.3
Relocation of a U.S. sales and administration itstc — 0.7
Dissolution costs related to a r-trading foreign subsidiar — 0.4
United Kingdom site clearan: — 0.1
$8.7 $2.8

The Company closed its defined benefit pension fddnture service accrual with effect from March 2010 and
accordingly we recorded a non-cash curtailmentdd$8.2 million in the first quarter.

Amortization of intangible assetwas $4.7 million in both 2010 and 2009.
Impairment of Octane Additives business goodwas $2.2 million in both 2010 and 2009.
Profit on disposal, netin 2010 the Company recognized $0.1 million priufitowing the disposal of surplus real est:

Interest expense (nehas decreased from $6.0 million to $4.6 million duéhe lower level of debt in 2010 and the
accelerated write-off of $0.2 million of unamortizdeferred finance costs in 2009.

Other net incomeof $3.1 million in 2010 related to net foreign eaalge gains. In 2009 other net income of $3.6
million related to $3.5 million of net foreign examge gains and $0.1 million of sundry other income.

Income taxesthe effective tax rate, once adjusted for the O&R®P FCPA settlement accrual and adjustment of iecom
tax provisions, is 13.6% compared with 24.3% in20lhe decrease of 10.7 percentage points is ghntare to the
positive impact of taxable profits in different ggaphical locations. This was in addition to theised assumption in
2010 that an element of the OFFP and FCPA settleatenuals should be tax deductible; as well a&.a fillion net
deferred tax credit in the third quarter of 20Gm@rily in respect of pension plan unrecognizetiagal net losses,
following the United Kingdom’s 1% reduction in the
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corporation tax rate from 28% to 27% in April 20driacted in July 2010. Further details are giveNote 7 of the

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Stateme
(in millions)

Income before income tax
Add back OFFP/FCPA settlement accr

Income taxe:
Add back adjustment of income tax provisit

Adjusted effective tax rat

Results of Operations — Fiscal 2009 compared to €&l 2008:

(in millions, except ratios)

Net sales

Fuel Specialtie
Active Chemicals
Octane Additive:

Gross profit

Fuel Specialtie
Active Chemicals
Octane Additive:

Gross margin (%)
Fuel Specialtie
Active Chemicals
Octane Additive:
Aggregate

Operating expense:
Fuel Specialtie
Active Chemicals
Octane Additive:
Pension charg
Corporate cost
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2010
$ 70.7
(3.0)
$ 67.7
$ (3.0
12.2
$ 9.2
13.6%
2009 2008 Change
$ 422.7 $ 440. $ (18.2
130.: 138.: (8.1)
45.€ 61.7 (15.7)
$ 598.¢ $ 640. $ (42.0
$147.2 $ 145.¢ $ 1€
26.¢ 12.5 14.¢
15.7 28.% (13.0)
$ 189.¢ $ 186.4 $ 2¢
34.8 33.0 +1.8
20.6 9.0 +11.6
33.6 46.2 -12.6
31.6 29.1 +2.5
$ (636 $®639 $ (0.3
(16.€) (16.1) (0.5)
(59.0) (23.9) (35.6)
(6.4) (2.9 (4.1)
(13.9) (24.9) 11.€
$(158.9  $(130.0 $ (28.9

2009

$ 18.:c
40.2

$ 58t

$ 11.¢
2.3

»

14.

NY

24.2%

-4%
-6%
-26%

-1%

+1%
+114%
-46%

+2%

n/e
+3%
+152%
+17&%
-47%

+22%
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Fuel Specialties

Net salesthe table below details the components which caoseghe year on year change in net sales spreassabm®
markets in which we operate.

Americas EMEA ASPAC Avtel Total

Change (%)
Volume +1 +3 n/e -31 -1
Price and product mi -2 -4 -3 +5 -2
Exchange rate n/e -2 n/e n/e -1
-1 -3 -3 -26 -4

Gross marginthe year on year increase of 1.8 percentage poiimgrily reflects continued declines in raw madeéri
costs and our ability to hold prices relativelyrfioffset by a lower proportion of higher margin A\vsales.

Operating expensesperating expenses held firm, as the favorable ainplexchange rates on our European cost bas
denominated in European Union euro and British pdaterling, offset increased research and developseenses
and personnel-related costs.

Active Chemicals

Net salesthe table below details the components which caoseghe year on year change in net sales spreassabm
markets in which we operate.

Americas EMEA ASPAC Total

Change (%)
Volume -16 +2 +23 -3
Price and product mi +13 -1 +9 +5
Exchange rate -5 -10 -9 -8
-8 -9 +23 -6

Gross marginthe year on year increase of 11.6 percentage p@ifiests the impact of improved pricing, a shiftasy
from lower-margin sales, the favorable impact @f raaterial cost reductions and better utilizatiod ananufacturing
efficiencies in our plants.

Operating expensethe year on year increase of 3% is due to the tostisred complying with REACH in the
European Union.

Octane Additives

Net salesdeclined 26% due to lower volumes (down 23 pergafmints) together with a slightly weaker sales mi
(down 3 percentage points). In both 2009 and 2@@&s3vere focused in the Middle East and Northdricé
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Gross marginthe year on year decrease in gross margin of J&tdeptage points primarily reflects the lower TEL
production volumes on the fixed cost base at tihesElere Port manufacturing site.

Operating expensefcreased by $35.6 million from $23.4 million to%6 million. Excluding the impact of the $40.2
million accrual for settlement of the OFFP and FAR¥estigations, and the impact of legal and ofirefessional
expenses of $12.9 million and $15.5 million in 2@G0®@I 2008, respectively, relating to these invesitgs, the year on
year decrease in operating expenses was $2.0milli@5% primarily in respect of reduced sellingtso

Other Income Statement Captions

Pension chargethis non-cash charge increased by $4.1 millionetd $nillion despite a decrease in the underlying
current service cost. This increased charge priynagilects a lower expected future return on Aageets.

Corporate costsfell by $11.6 million due to a $2.4 million gain stock options forfeited upon resignation of the
Company’s former CEO and a $2.5 million prior yé&isited Kingdom sales tax settlement in 2009; &8® million
of advisory and financing costs expensed in 200@letion to two large potential acquisitions ttiee Company
decided not to pursue. The remaining reductioregeeb the favorable impact of exchange rates emptadominantly
British pound sterling cost base in tandem withttigpst controls.

Restructuring chargerestructuring costs were comprised of the following

(in millions) 2009 2008
Separation agreement with the former C $1.2 $—
Relocation of a U.S. sales and administration itstc 0.7 —
Dissolution costs related to a r-trading foreign subsidiar 0.4 —
Reduction in EMEA headcou 0.2 0.7
United Kingdom site clearant 0.1 0.€
Relocation of our European Headquarters to thesiléze Port sit — 0.2
U.S. site clearanc — 0.2
Reduction in Americas headcot — 0.2
$2.8 $2.1

Amortization of intangible asseideclined by $2.7 million from $7.4 million to $4nillion due to a reduction in the
amortization charge related to the agreementsittilgl Corporation. The reduction is the result nfextension to the
estimated future life of our Octane Additives besis and the $6.3 million reduction in intangibleeds recognized in
2008 for contract related provisions no longer degmecessary.

Impairment of Octane Additives business goodthe 2009 charge was lower than that recognize®@8 primarily
due to the higher operating income and associatsll ftows in
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2008. Effective October 1, 2008 we updated thered#s used in the detailed forecast model to ctleunpairment
charges to reflect the Company’s extended estifoatie future life of our Octane Additives busiaésom
December 31, 2010 to December 31, 2012.

Profit on disposalin May 2008 the Company recognized $0.4 millionfipfollowing the disposal of surplus U.S. real
estate.

Interest expense (neincreased by $0.6 million to $6.0 million in 200l ecting the accelerated write-off of $0.2
million of unamortized deferred finance costs frthra previous finance facility, an increase in teéedred finance cos
amortization charge following our February 2009nahcing, lower returns on the Company’s cash leaam a
weaker investment market offset by lower interggpe@se on our finance facility. Interest expensewnfinance
facility benefited from U.S. base interest rated gross debt declining between the comparativeogeri

Other net income/(expens®her net income of $3.6 million in 2009 related®5m of net foreign currency exchange
gains and $0.1m of net sundry other income. In 20108r net expense of $19.3 million related tofaetign currency
exchange losses of $19.0 million and net sundrgragikpenses of $0.3 million.

Income taxesin 2009 we assumed that none of the OFFP and FER&mment accrual would be tax deductible. In
addition, income taxes were also impacted by tiesadent of income tax provisions as a result efgéttlement of
certain United Kingdom tax positions. Accordinglg Wwelieve that the change in the effective ratievoto 65.0% in
2009 from 33.3% in 2008 is best explained by ad)gdor these. This adjusted effective tax rate deseased by 9.0
percentage points between the comparative perivasply due to the positive impact of taxable pi®fn different
geographical locations.

(in millions) 2009 2008
Income before income tax $18.2 $18.¢€
Add back OFFP/FCPA settlement accr 40.2 —
$58.t $18.¢
Income taxe: $11.¢€ 6.3
Add back adjustment of income tax provisic 2.2 —
$14.2 $ 6.3
Adjusted effective tax rat 24.2% 33.%
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
Working Capital

(in millions) 2010 2009

Total current asse $321.¢ $282.¢
Total current liabilities (158.9) (279.9
Working capital 163.( 103.(
Less cash and cash equivale (107.0) (68.€)
Less sho-term investment 4.2 —

Add back accrued income tax 6.1 6.2
Add back sho-term borrowing 15.C 10.C
Add back current portion of plant closure provisi 3.€ 3.¢
Add back current portion of unrecognized tax bea: 2.2 5.C
Add back current portion of deferred inco 0.1 0.1
Adjusted working capite $ 79.C $ 59.7

In 2010 our adjusted working capital increased 19.$ million (defined by the Company as accountgirable,
inventories, prepaid expenses, accounts payabla@mded liabilities rather than total current és$ess total current
liabilities). The $23.0 million decrease in accaupayable and accrued liabilities primarily refiettte $13.6 million
reclassification into long-term accrued liabilitietlowing the settlement of the OFFP and FCPA stigations; and
payments made to the Government Authorities in 2qjgregating to $19.2 million. The $5.4 million degse in
accounts receivable and prepaid expenses was die tioning of shipments in our Octane Additivesiness offset by
the increased fourth quarter trading in our Fuedcsgties and Active Chemicals businesses. Theillion increase
in inventories was focused in our Active Chemicald Fuel Specialties businesses as we balancedqgpiaulevels in
Octane Additives to meet fluctuations in demand.

Cash

At December 31, 2010 and 2009 we had cash andecpstalents of $107.1 million and $68.6 millionspectively.
Short-term investments

At December 31, 2010 and 2009 we had short-termsimrents of $4.2 million and $nil, respectively.

Debt

On February 6, 2009, we entered into a three-ypané€e facility which provides for borrowings by afsup to $150
million including a term loan of $50 million andvwaving credit facility of $100 million. The revoing credit facility
can be drawn down until the finance facility expimn February 6, 2012.
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The Company'’s finance facility contains restrictolauses which may constrain our activities andtlouar operational
and financial flexibility. The facility obliges thenders to comply with a request for utilizatidrfinance unless there
an event of default outstanding. Events of defardtdefined in the finance facility and include atemial adverse
change to our business, properties, assets, falasandition or results of operations. The facibgntains a number of
restrictions that limit our ability, amongst otltbings, and subject to certain limited exceptidasncur additional
indebtedness, pledge our assets as security, gearalpligations of third parties, make investmemtgiergo a merger
or consolidation, dispose of assets, or matercinge our line of business.

In addition, the facility also contains terms whidibreached, would result in the loan becomingaseable on demand.
It requires, among other matters, compliance with financial covenant ratios measured on a qurbesis. These
requirements are (1) the ratio of net debt to EBAT$Dall not be greater than 2.5:1 and (2) the rattiBBITDA to net
interest shall not be less than 4.0:1. EBITDA ma-GAAP measure of liquidity defined in the finarfacility.
Management believes that the Company has not beddblkse covenants throughout the period to Dece®&ih010
and expects to not breach these covenants foretktel@ months. The finance facility is secured Imueber of fixed
and floating charges over certain assets of thegaosnand its subsidiaries.

As at December 31, 2010, the Company had $47.@omilif debt outstanding under its finance faciétyd was in
compliance with all financial covenants thereineTebt maturity profile as at December 31, 201€luating the
finance facility, is set out below:

(in millions)

2011 $ 15.C

2012 32.C
47.C

Current portion of lon-term debr (15.0

Long-term debt, net of current portic $ 32.C

Outlook

At December 31, 2010, the Company had cash, castatgnts and short-term investments of $111.3iomland debt
of $47.0 million resulting in net cash of $64.3 linih. We expect net cash to remain stable in futurarters despite the
need to build working capital from recent low lesjedccelerate our spending on research and develdpmcrease our
capital expenditures and continue making cash patgriellowing settlement of the OFFP and FCPA inigadions.
Accordingly, our focus continues to be on both gatieg and preserving cash.

The Company expects to fund its operations ovkzaat the next 12 months from a combination of afieg cash flow
and its existing finance facility. Under the finanfacility
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we have the ability to draw down the $100 milli@velving credit facility, of which $7.0 million wadrawn down at
December 31, 2010, so long as we are in complieuitteall financial covenants therein.

Pension Plans and Other Post-Employment Benefits

The Company recognizes the funded status of debeeaeéfit post-retirement plans on the consolidatddnce sheets,
and changes in the funded status in comprehensieeie. The measurement date of the plan’s fundedssis the
same as the Company’s fiscal year-end.

Contractual Commitments

The following represents contractual commitment®etember 31, 2010 and the effect of those obbtigaton future
cash flows:

201z- 201¢ Thereafter
(in millions) Total 2011 13 15
Operating activitie:
Planned funding of pension obligatic $ 50.€ $9.1 $19.¢ $21.€ $ —
Remediation paymen 25.¢ 3.€ 7.€ 2.4 12.C
Severance paymer 0.t 0.5 — — —
Operating lease commitmer 5. 1.3 1.6 1Le 1.4
Raw material purchase obligatic 18.c 5.2 10.5 2.€ —
Interest payments on de 3.1 2.5 0.€ — —
Financing activitie«
Long-term debt obligation 47.C 15.C 32.C — —
Investing activities:
Capital commitment 1.4 1.4 — — —
Total $152.: $38.€ $72.7 $27.€ $ 134

Operating activities

The amounts related to the pension plan referddikily levels of Company funding of the Unitedngdom
contributory defined benefit pension plan (the fPJaThe Plan is closed to future service accrudlias a large
number of deferred and current pensioners. The @agnpxpects its annual cash contribution to be 88llion in
2011-12 and $10.8 million in 2013-15. It is not miegful to predict an amount after five years sitteere are
numerous uncertainties including future return sgess, pension increases, inflation and employiegats.

Remediation payments represent those cash flowshin& ompany is currently obligated to pay in exgf current
and former facilities. It does not include any diimnary remediation costs that the Company mapsé to incur.
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Severance payments represent those cash flowthéh&@ompany is currently obligated to pay in respéseverance
costs associated with exit or disposal activities post employment benefits.

Operating lease commitments relate primarily ticefépace, motor vehicles and various items of agermnd office
equipment which are expected to be renewed andaeglin the normal course of business.

Raw material purchase obligations relate to cettaigterm raw material contracts which have been entetedoy the
Company that stipulate fixed or minimum quantite®e purchased; fixed, minimum, or variable casvsions; and
the approximate timing of the transaction. Purclwsdmgations exclude agreements that are cancelatieut penalty.

The Company uses interest rate swaps to hedgesagia@nrisk from variable interest rates on cered@ments of its
long-term debt. The estimated payments includetertable above reflect the variable interest aharglongterm deb
obligations and the effect of the interest ratepsv&stimated commitment fees are also includedraackest income is
excluded.

Due to the uncertainty regarding the nature ofatadtits, particularly those which are not currenithglerway, it is not
meaningful to predict the outcome of obligationated to unrecognized tax benefits. Further disolss provided in
Note 7 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finandiale®nents

Financing activities

On February 6, 2009 we entered into a three-yaantie facility which provides for borrowings byafsup to $150
million including a term loan of $50 million andvwaving credit facility of $100 million. The revoing credit facility
can be drawn down until the finance facility expion February 6, 2012. The term loan repaymentasafellows: $10
million was paid on February 5, 2010; $15 millioaswpaid on February 7, 2011; and $25 million is alué-ebruary 6,
2012. At December 31, 2010 long-term debt compras&d0 million term loan and $7 million drawn undies
revolving credit facility.

Investing activities

Capital commitments relate to certain capital ptgehat the Company has committed to undertake.
Environmental Matters and Plant Closures

The Company is subject to environmental laws iBthe countries in which it operates. Under garévironmental
laws the Company is responsible for the remediadidmzardous substances or wastes at currenttyroerly owned
or operated properties.

Most of our manufacturing operations have been gotadl outside the U.S. and, therefore, any lighygértaining to th
investigation and remediation of contaminated priogeis likely to be determined under non-U.S..law
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We evaluate costs for remediation, decontaminaiahdemolition projects on a regular basis. Fulgion is made
for those costs to which we are committed underrenmnental laws. Full provision has been made tierdacommitted
costs of $25.9 million at December 31, 2010. Exjtenel against provisions was $2.7 million, $1.5limil and $1.6
million in the years 2010, 2009 and 2008, respebtiv

We have also incurred personnel severance costaition to the management of the decline in thea@x Additives
market and the restructuring of the Fuel SpecigHtied Active Chemicals businesses. Total sevemxmmenditure was
$0.4 million, $2.1 million and $1.6 million in thesars 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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ltem 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company operates manufacturing and blendintitiies; offices and laboratories around the wofldle Company
sells a range of Fuel Specialties, Active Chemiaal$ Octane Additives to customers around the wdtié Company
uses floating rate debt to finance these globataijmss. Consequently, the Company is subject siness risks
inherent in non-U.S. activities, including politiGand economic uncertainty, import and export latidns, and market
risk related to changes in interest rates anddareurrency exchange rates. The political and emonasks are
mitigated by the stability of the countries in wihithe Company’s largest operations are locateddidmnits, ongoing
credit evaluation and account monitoring procedaresused to minimize bad debt risk. Collateralasgenerally
required.

The Company uses derivatives, including interdst savaps, commodity swaps and foreign currencydoivexchange
contracts, in the normal course of business to genaarket risks. The derivatives used in hedginiyites are
considered risk management tools and are not wsdchtling purposes. In addition, the Company entéo derivative
instruments with a diversified group of major ficéal institutions in order to monitor the expostweon-performance
of such instruments. The Company’s objective in agiamg exposure to changes in interest rates isibthe impact of
such changes on earnings and cash flows and to lmweeall borrowing costs. The Company’s objectivenanaging
the exposure to changes in foreign currency exahaaigs is to reduce volatility on earnings andh¢lsvs associated
with such changes.

The Company offers fixed prices for some long-teaies contracts. As manufacturing and raw mateoistis are
subject to variability the Company uses commodigyss to hedge the cost of some raw materials #discing
volatility on earnings and cash flows. The deriwasi are considered risk management tools and aresad for trading
purposes. The Company’s objective is to managexpesure to fluctuating costs of raw materials.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company uses interest rate swaps to manageshtate exposure. As at December 31, 2010 thep@oyrhad
cash, cash equivalents and short-term investmédsld.3 million, no bank overdraft and long-terebtlof

$47.0 million. The long-term debt comprises $40ibion senior term loan and $7.0 million drawn undee revolving
credit facility.

In 2009 the Company entered into interest rate sagapements, to convert floating rate debt to fisetd, that cover
$40.0 million of the $47.0 million remaining lorigrm debt (including current portion) as at Decengie 2010. On th
basis that $40.0 million of the $47.0 million loterm debt (including current portion) is hedgediasfainterest
movements and that the Company would receive isterethe $111.3 million positive cash balancessut-term
investments, then the interest payable on unhedgletof $7.0 million is more than offset by theeirst receivable on
positive cash balances and sherm investments. On a gross basis, assuming ritcadd interest on the cash balan
and short-term investments,
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a hypothetical absolute change of 1% in U.S. hatsedst rates on the unhedged debt of $7.0 milboa one-year
period would impact net income and cash flows yraximately $0.1 million before tax. On a net baassuming
additional interest on the cash balances and shortinvestments, a hypothetical absolute chang&oin U.S. base
interest rates for a one-year period would impattimcome and cash flows by approximately $1.0iomlbefore tax.

The above does not consider the effect of inteneskchange rate changes on overall activity naragament action to
mitigate such changes.

Exchange Rate Risk

The Company generates an element of its revenuesmanrs some operating costs in currencies ottaer the U.S.
dollar. The reporting currency of the Company & thS. dollar.

The Company evaluates the functional currency ofi @aporting unit according to the economic envinent in which
it operates. Several major subsidiaries of the Gommwperating outside of the U.S. have the U.Sadak their
functional currency due to the nature of the marketwhich they operate. In addition, the finangiasition and results
of operations of some of our foreign subsidiariesraported in the relevant local currency and tin@nslated to U.S.
dollars at the applicable currency exchange ratenfibusion in our consolidated financial statensent

The primary foreign currencies in which we havehexge rate fluctuation exposure are the Europeaonléuro and
British pound sterling. Changes in exchange ragdéaden these foreign currencies and the U.S. dellhaffect the
recorded levels of our assets and liabilitieshtdxtent that such figures reflect the inclusibforeign assets and
liabilities which are translated into U.S. dolléos presentation in our consolidated financialataénts, as well as our
results of operations.

The Company’s objective in managing exposure teifpr currency fluctuations is to reduce earnings @sh flow
volatility associated with foreign currency ratenges. Accordingly, the Company enters into varoargracts that
change in value as foreign currency exchange chimsge to protect the U.S. dollar value of its taxigsforeign
currency denominated assets, liabilities, commitisieand cash flows. The Company also uses foreigemecy forwar
exchange contracts to offset a portion of the Camigaexposure to certain foreign currency denoneidaevenues so
that gains and losses on these contracts offsagelsan the U.S. dollar value of the related faneigrrency
denominated revenues. The objective of the hedgiogram is to reduce earnings and cash flow vadlatglated to
changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

The trading of our three business segments is émtigrnaturally hedged and accordingly changexahange rates
would not be material to our earnings or finanpasition. Corporate costs, however, are largelyodenated in British
pound sterling. A 5%
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strengthening in the U.S. dollar against Britishupa sterling would increase reported operatingnmedy
approximately $1.4 million for a one-year perioctlexling the impact of any foreign currency forwasctchange
contracts.

Where a 5% strengthening of the U.S. dollar has lnsed as an illustration, a 5% weakening woulehpeected to ha
the opposite effect on operating income.

Raw Material Cost Risk

We use a variety of raw materials, chemicals amatggnin our manufacturing and blending processesiwbf the raw
materials that we use are derived from petrochdrb@sed feedstocks which can be subject to penbdspid and
significant cost instability. These fluctuationscmst can be caused by political instability inpmbducing nations and
elsewhere, or other factors influencing global $yjmd demand of these materials, over which wes mavor little
control. We use long-term contracts (generally itbed costs or formula based costs) to help enavadability and
continuity of supply, and to manage the risk ofténsreases. We have entered into hedging arrangsrfe certain
raw materials, but do not typically enter into hedgarrangements for all raw materials, chemicalsrergy costs.
Should the costs of raw materials, chemicals orggniecrease, and should we not be able to pasisese cost
increases to our customers, then operating maagidsash flows from operating activities would deeasely
impacted. Should raw material costs increase sagmifly, then the Company’s need for working cdpitauld similarly
increase. Any of these risks could adversely impactresults of operations, financial position aadh flows.
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Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat
Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEimg
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Innggec Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated bedasheets and the related consolidated statemientsome,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows present faifyall material respects, the financial positidirmospec Inc. and its
subsidiaries at December 31, 2010 and 2009, ancsodts of their operations and their cash flomrsefach of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2010 iroconify with accounting principles generally accebie the United
States of America. Also in our opinion, the Compamintained, in all material respects, effectiveinal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, basedriteria established imternal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiudrise Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s
management is responsible for these financialrstés, for maintaining effective internal contrgko financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectigsmd internal control over financial reportinggluded in
“Management’s Report On Internal Control Over FiziahReporting” appearing in Item 9A of this For-K. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on theserfaia statements and on the Company’s internalrobaver financial
reporting based on our integrated audits. We caeduaur audits in accordance with the standardlseoPublic
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United Stat€lpse standards require that we plan and perfoenaadits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether thecfalatatements are free of material misstatemedhinehether
effective internal control over financial reportimgs maintained in all material respects. Our guzfithe financial
statements included examining, on a test basideage supporting the amounts and disclosures ifirttiecial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesargg significant estimates made by managementeweaidating the
overall financial statement presentation. Our aoflibternal control over financial reporting indied obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financigloging, assessing the risk that a material weakagssts, and testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectisgioéinternal control based on the assessedOiskaudits also
included performing such other procedures as weidered necessary in the circumstances. We bdlexeur audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableamssuregarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the pegption of financial statements for external pugsos accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A comfsgimgernal control over financial reporting inckslthose policies
and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenafcecords that, in reasonable detail, accurateti/fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets afahgany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance thas#etions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation ofi¢iahstatements in accordance with generally gedepccounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witiazations of
management and directors of the company; andp(yide reasonable
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assurance regarding prevention or timely deteafamauthorized acquisition, use, or dispositiothaf company’s
assets that could have a material effect on tten@ial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivesiés future periods are subject to the risk thatrais may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, bthtbalegree of compliance with the policies orcpdures may
deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Manchester, United Kingdom
February 18, 2011
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in_millions, except share and per share data

Net sales (Note :
Cost of goods sol

Gross profit (Note 3

Operating expense
Selling, general and administrati
Research and developme
Restructuring charg
Amortization of intangible asse
Impairment of Octane Additives business goodwilb{#\8)
Profit on disposal, net (Note 1

Operating income (Note .
Other net income/(expens
Interest expens
Interest incom:

Income before income tax
Income taxes (Note °

Net income
Less net income attributable to the -controlling interes

Net income attributable to Innospec |

Earnings per share attributable to Innospec Inotg¥)
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average shares outstanding (in thousdNd$g 5)

Basic

Diluted

Dividend declared per common sh

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtbgements.
53

Years ended December 3

2010 2009 2008
$ 683. $ 598. $ 640.F
(466.0) (409.7) (454.))
217.: 189.: 186.
(111.9 (142.5) (115.9)
(17.6) (16.4) (14.5)
(8.7) (2.6) (2.1)
(4.7) (4.7) (7.4)
(2.2) (2.2) (3.7)
0.1 — 0.4
(145.0) (168.6) (142.9)
72.2 20.7 43.€
3.1 3.6 (19.9)
(5.1) (6.9) (6.4)
0. 0.2 1.
70.7 18.2 18.¢
3.C (11.9) (6.9)
73.7 6.4 12.€
— — (0.1)
$ 73.7 $ 64 $ 12
$ 3.1C $ 0.27 $ 0.57
$ 2.97 $ 0.2¢ $ 0.51
23,75¢ 23,64 23,50
24,81 24,71 24,39
$ — $ 0.0% $ 0.1C
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in_millions, except share and per share data

Assets
Current assetl
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term investment
Accounts receivable (less allowance of $2.1 an8,$2spectively
Inventories
Finished good
Work in progres:
Raw material

Total inventories
Prepaid expense

Total current asse

Property, plant and equipment (Note
Goodwill - Octane Additives (Note ¢
Goodwill - Other (Note 8

Intangible assets (Note

Deferred finance costs (Note 1
Deferred income taxes (Note

Other norcurrent assel

Total asset

Liabilities and Stockholde’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Accrued income taxe
Shor-term borrowing (Note 12
Current portion of plant closure provisions (No®)
Current portion of unrecognized tax benefits (Not
Current portion of deferred income (Note :

Total current liabilities

Accrued liabilities, net of current portic

Long-term debt, net of current portion (Note :

Plant closure provisions, net of current portio{N12)
Unrecognized tax benefits, net of current portiNote 7)
Pension liability (Note 6

Other nor-current liabilities

Deferred income, net of current portion (Note
Commitments and contingencies (Note

Stockholder’ Equity (Note 15)

Common stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 40,0@sb@res, issued 29,554,500 shi
Additional paic-in capital

Treasury stock (5,851,298 and 5,890,447 sharessatrespectively

Retained earning

Accumulated other comprehensive |

Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtbgement:

At December 31

2010

$ 107.1
4.2
84.2

78.2
1.8
42.3

122.2
4.1

321.¢
48.7
4.6
139.(
19.C
0.t
12.7
1.9

$ 548.%

$ 45.¢
85.7
6.1
15.C
8K

2.2

158.¢
13.€
32.C
23.€
6.4
11.7
0.5
0.9

0.3
286.:
(64.5)
210.F
(131.6)

300.7

$ 548.%

2009

$ 68.€
89.¢
81.t

1kt
37.¢

120.¢
3.8

282.¢
50.¢
6.8
139.2
23.1
1.¢
36.¢
11

$ 543.1

$ 50.2
104.
6.3
10.C
3.9

5.C

179.¢

41.C
24.F
14.¢
124.%
0.7
0.8

0.2
285.¢
(64.2)
136.¢

(201.7)

157.¢

$ 543.1
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in_millions )

Years ended December 3

2010 2009 2008
Cash Flows from Operating Activiti¢
Net income $ 73 $ 6.4 $ 12.¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic 15.4 18.4 23.C
Impairment of Octane Additives business goodwilb{&l8) 2.2 2.2 3.7
Deferred income taxe (14.9) (2.9 (1.
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant andipqent (0.2) — (0.4)
Non-cash intangible asset other adjustmu — — 6.3
Changes in working capite
Accounts receivable and prepaid exper 4.6 1.7 2.3
Inventories (2.3 18.¢ (8.6)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (11.5) 53.1 (9.9
Excess tax benefit from stock based payment arraagts — (0.2) (2.5)
Income taxes and other current liabilit (0. 16.5 (17.2)
Movement on plant closure provisio (0.8 1kt 0.2
Movement on pension liabilit 34 0.2 (5.7
Stock option compensatic 0.8 i1z 4.1
Movements on other n-current assets and liabiliti (12.2) (30.5) 6.¢
Net cash provided by operating activit 58.2 87.4 14.2
Cash Flows from Investing Activitie
Capital expenditure (8.9 (7.2 (9.2
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipmet 0.2 — 1.3
Purchase of shc-term investment (7.5 — —
Sale of sho-term investment 3.3 — —
Net cash (used in) investing activiti (22.¢) (7.2 (7.€)
Cash Flows from Financing Activitie
Net receipt/(repayment) of revolving credit fagil 6.C (17.0 12.C
Repayment of term loz (20.0 (55.0 (20.0
Receipt of term loa — 50.C —
Refinancing cost — (3.7 (0.9)
Excess tax benefit from stock based payment arraagts — 0.1 2.t
Dividend paid — (1.2 (2.9
Issue of treasury stoc 0.2 0.2 1.6
Repurchase of common sta (2.7 — (10.5)
Non-controlling interest dividends (pai — — (0.2
Net cash (used in) financing activiti (6.5) (26.€) (17.0
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ (0.9 1.1 —
Net change in cash and cash equival 38.t 54.7 (10.4
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 68.€ 13.¢ 24.%
Cash and cash equivalents at end of $ 107.1 $ 68.€ $ 13.¢

Amortization of deferred finance costs of $1.4 ioill (2009 — $2.0 million, 2008 — $0.5 million) ftre year are included in depreciation and
amortization in the cash flow statement but inrie$¢ expense in the income statement. Cash payfresipts in respect of income taxes and
interest are disclosed in Note 7 and Note 13, ictisfedy.

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtbgements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Amortization of prior

(in_millions )
) Accumulated
Additional Retainec Other Total
Common Treasury ] Comprehensive Stockholders’
Paid-In Earnings
Stock Capital Stock Loss Equity
Balance December 31, 20 $ 0.3 $  280.¢ $ (58.29) $ 121t $ (72.79) $ 271.k
Net income attributable
Innospec Inc — — — 12t — 12t
Dividend ($0.10 per
share) — — — (2.4 — (2.9
Net CTA chang«® — — — — (15.9) (15.¢)
Derivatives® — — — — (0.9 (0.€
Treasury stock rissued — (0.9) 3.8 — — 3.4
Treasury stocl
repurchase: — — (20.5) — — (10.5)
Stock optior
compensatiol — 2.3 — — — 2.3
Actuarial net losses
arising during the yee
(Note 6) — — — — (42.¢) (42.¢)
Tax impact on actuarial
net losses arising
during the yea — — — — 12.C 12.C
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 0.3 $ 282t $ (64.9 $ 131.¢ $ (120.9) $ 229.:
Net income attributable
Innospec Inc — — — 6.4 — 6.4
Dividend ($0.05 per
share) — — — (1.2 — (2.2
Net CTA chang«® — — — — 6.6 6.€
Derivatives® — — — — 2.3 2.3
Treasury stock rissuec — (0.2 0.7 — — 0.t
Stock option
compensatiol — 3.5 — — — BE
Actuarial net losse
arising during the year
(Note 6) — — — — (124.%) (124.9
Tax impact on actuarial
net losses arising
during the yea — — — — 35.C 35.C
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 0.3 $ 285.¢ $ (64.2 $ 136.¢ $ (201.7) $ 157.¢
Net income attributable
Innospec Inc — — — 73.7 — 73.1
Net CTA chang«® — — — — (15.6) (15.€)
Derivatives® — — — — — —
Treasury stock rissuec — 2.1 — — 2.1
Treasury stock
repurchase: — — (2.7 — — (2.7
Stock optior
compensatiol — 0.5 — — — 0.t
Amortization of actuaria
net losses, net of tax
(Note 6) — — — — 3.8 3.8
Gain on pension pla
amendment, net of ts
(Note 6) — — — — 12.: 12.3
Deferred income taxe®) — — — — (2.9 (2.3



service credit, net of tax

(Note 6) — — — —
Actuarial net gain

arising during the year

(Note 6) — — — —
Tax impact on actuarii

net gains arising

during the yea — — — —

Balance at December 31, 2C $ 0.3 $ 286.: $ (64.9 $ 210t

(1) Changes in cumulative translation adjustm

(2) Changes in unrealized gains/(losses) on derivatsteuments, net of ta:

(0.6)
98.E
(26.6)

$ (131.6)

(0.6)

98.

(26.6)

$ 300.7

(3) Impact on deferred income taxes of a chandbkdrassociated tax rate on the unrecognized aatumat losses of $228.7 million ($164.6

million net of deferred taxes) previously recoguize other comprehensive lo:
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LO SS)
(in_millions )

2009 2008

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the years ead December 3: 2010
Net income attributable to Innospec | $ 73.7 $ 64 $12.t
Changes in cumulative translation adjustn (15.6) 6.€ (15.§)
Changes in unrealized gains/(losses) on derivatsteuments, net of tax of $nil,

$(0.9) million and $0.3 million, respective — 2.3 (0.9
Amortization of actuarial net losses, net of taxs¢ff.4) million, $nil and $nil,

respectively 3.8 — —
Gain on pension plan amendment, net of tax of $@iBion, $nil and $nil,

respectively 12.5 — —
Deferred income taxe (2.9 — —
Amortization of prior service credit, net of tax$3.3 million, $nil and $nil,

respectively (0.6 — —
Actuarial net gains/(losses) arising during theryeat of tax of $(26.6) million,

$35.0 million and $12.0 million, respective 71.¢ (89.9) (30.§)
Total comprehensive income/(los $143.2 $(74.5) $(35.0)
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in_millions )
Accumulated other comprehensive loss for the yeaended December 3. 2010 2009 2008
Cumulative translation adjustme $ (38.9 $ (22.6€) $ (29.2)
Unrealized gains/(losses) on derivative instrumams of tax of $(0.3) millior

$(0.3) million and $0.6 million, respective 0.¢ 0.€ (1.4
Unrecognized actuarial net losses, net of tax df$&illion, $69.7 million

and $34.7 million, respective (94.9) (179.9 (89.6)
Accumulated other comprehensive I $(131.€) $(201.7) $(120.2)

The accompanying notes are an integral part obteegements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Nature of Operations

Innospec develops, manufactures, blends and mdtedtadditives, personal care and fragrance prisdaed other
specialty chemicals. Our products are sold primaailoil refineries, personal care and fragranaaganies, and other
chemical and industrial companies throughout thddv®ur fuel additives help improve fuel efficigndoost engine
performance and reduce harmful emissions. Our ajtgchemicals provide effective technology-basaldtsons for
our customers’ processes or products focused iRéingonal Care; Household, Industrial & Instituéibrand Fragrance
Ingredients markets. Principal product lines ammbrable segments are Fuel Specialties, Active Gtesand Octane
Additives.

See Note 3 for financial information on the Compamgportable segments.
Note 2. Accounting Policies

Basis of PreparationThe consolidated financial statements have begraped in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of Am@m’nd include all subsidiaries of the Company whiee Company
has a controlling financial interest. All signifitaintercompany accounts and balances have beamated upon
consolidation. All acquisitions are accounted feparchases and the results of operations of tpgirad businesses ¢
included in the consolidated financial statemeramfthe date of acquisition. The results of discwr@d operations are
shown separately in the income statement.

Use of Estimatesthe preparation of the consolidated financial stetets, in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of Arcerrequires management to make estimates and pissnsithat
affect the amounts reported in the consolidateghionl statements and accompanying notes. Actaaltsecould differ
from those estimates.

Cash Equivalentdnvestment securities with maturities of three nheriir less when purchased are considered to be
cash equivalents.

Short-Term InvestmentBivestment securities with maturities of more thfaiee months when purchased are consic
to be short-term investments.

Accounts ReceivablThe Company records accounts receivable at nexabé value and maintains an allowance for
customers not making required payments. The Comgatgrmines the adequacy of the allowance by peaty
evaluating each customer receivable consideringastomer’s financial condition, credit history andrent economic
conditions.

Inventories:Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (FIF€@hmd) or market price. Cost includes materiatspianc
an appropriate proportion of plant overheads. Tomg@any
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

accrues volume discounts where it is probablettretequired volume will be attained and the amaantbe
reasonably estimated. The discounts are recordadeuction in the cost of materials based oreptef purchases
over the period of the agreement. Provision is nfadslow-moving or obsolete inventories as appiaipr

Property, Plant and EquipmerProperty, plant and equipment are stated at cestdecumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is provided over the estimated udefat of the assets using the straight-line metfioe. cost of
additions and improvements are capitalized. Magatee and repairs are charged to expenses. When asssold or
retired the associated cost and accumulated depimtiare removed from the consolidated finandetiesnents and ar
related gain or loss is included in earnings. T¢tereated useful lives of the major classes of deplde assets are as
follows:

Buildings 7 to 25 yeal
Equipment 3 to 10 year:

Goodwill and Other Intangible AssetSoodwill and other intangible assets deemed to hal&finite lives are not
amortized but are subject to at least annual impexit tests based on projected post-tax cash flisgsuhted at the
Company’s weighted average cost of capital. Thelahmeasurement date for impairment testing ofytredwill
relating to the Fuel Specialties and Active Chemsibaisinesses is December 31. At this date we peed annual
impairment tests and concluded that there has he@mpairment of goodwill in respect of those rdjpay segments.
Octane Additives business goodwill is tested fopamment at the end of each quarter. As expectddiline in the
Octane Additives market has resulted in quartengdirment charges being incurred from the firstropraof 2004
onwards. It is highly likely that further quartediharges will be incurred in future years as theketacontinues to
decline. Other intangible assets deemed to haite fimes are amortized using the straight-linemoetover their
estimated useful lives and tested for any potemtiphirment when events occur or circumstancesgsharhich sugge
that an impairment may have occurred.

Deferred Finance CostThe costs relating to debt financing are capitdlizeparately disclosed in the consolidated
balance sheets and amortized using the effectteecist method over the expected life of the delatriting facility.

Impairment of Lon-Lived AssetsThe Company reviews the carrying value of its ldmged assets, including buildings
and equipment, whenever changes in circumstanggesuthat the carrying values may be impairedrdier to
facilitate this test the Company groups togetheetsat the lowest possible level for which cast finformation is
available. Undiscounted future cash flows expetde@sult from the assets are compared with theyiogrvalue of the
assets and if they are lower an impairment loss lbeaecognized. The amount of the impairment leske difference
between the fair value and the carrying value efdbsets. Fair values are determined using posiatxflows
discounted at the Company’s weighted average dastptal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

Derivative InstrumentsThe Company uses various derivative instrumentsdeg forward currency contracts,
options, interest rate swaps and commodity swapsaitage certain exposures. These instruments enedrinto unde
the Company’s corporate risk management policyitormze exposure and are not for speculative trggarposes.
The Company recognizes all derivatives as eitharaqurent assets or liabilities in the consoliddtathnce sheet and
measures those instruments at fair value. Changée ifair value of derivatives that are not deatgd as hedges, or do
not meet the requirements for hedge accountingegegnized in earnings. Derivatives which areglestied as hedges
are tested for effectiveness on a quarterly basig,marked to market. The ineffective portion & tlerivatives changs
in value is recognized in earnings. The effectiggipn is recognized in other comprehensive incomd the hedged
item is recognized in earnings. The Company emplugsest rate swaps which convert floating ratet @a the senior
term loan to fixed rate. These have been desigres@ash flow hedges of the underlying variable ofigation. At th
end of the term of the swap arrangements, the atmelgain or loss will be reclassified to the inmstatement. The
interest rate swaps have been recorded as nomtuatalities in the consolidated balance she&ée Company also
hedges the cost of some raw materials using contynsdaps. The swaps in respect of one of its keymaterials
have been designated as qualifying for hedge atiomumi\t the end of the swap arrangements the cativel gain or
loss will be reclassified to the income statem&hese commodity swaps are recorded asauwrent assets or liabiliti
in the consolidated balance sheet.

Environmental Compliance and RemediatiEnvironmental compliance costs include ongoing mheaiance,
monitoring and similar costs. Environmental cosesaccrued when environmental assessments or rahedidirts are
probable and the cost can be reasonably estinfateth. accruals are adjusted as further informateweldps or
circumstances change. Costs of future obligatioeasiscounted to their present values using thefgamy's weighted
average cost of capital.

Revenue RecognitioThe Company supplies products to customers fromaii®us manufacturing sites, and in some
instances from containers held on customer sitegga variety of standard shipping terms and ¢mrdi. In each cas
revenue is recognized when the transfer of lefal which is defined and generally accepted instia@dard terms and
conditions, arises between the Company and themast Provisions for sales discounts and rebatesstomers are
based upon the terms of sales contracts and ayedegtin the same period as the related salesiedution from
revenue. The Company estimates the provision fesshscounts and rebates based on the terms lofagaeement at
the time of shipping.

Components of Net Salesli amounts billed to customers relating to shigpand handling are classified as net
sales. Shipping and handling costs incurred byCihyapany are classified as cost of goods sold.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

Components of Cost of Goods Sdlaist of goods sold is comprised of raw materiatcosluding inbound freight,
duty and non-recoverable taxes, inbound handlisgscassociated with the receipt of raw materiaskpging
materials, manufacturing costs including labor gostaintenance and utility costs, plant and enging®verheads,
warehousing and outbound shipping costs and handbsts. Inventory losses and provisions and tkesadf customer
claims are also recognized in the cost of goodsitem.

Components of Selling, General and AdministratixpdasesSelling expenses comprise the costs of the disdess
force, and the sales management and customer separtments required to support them. It alsopcses
commission charges, the costs of sales confereammkgade shows, the cost of advertising and promstand the cost
of bad and doubtful debts. General and adminisgakpenses comprise the cost of support functrarisding
accounting, human resources, information technodogl/the cost of group functions including corpemaanagement,
finance, tax, treasury, investor relations andlldgaartments. Provision of management’s best estirof legal and
settlement costs for litigation in which the Companinvolved is made and reported in the admiatste expense line
item.

Research and Development ExpenResearch, development and testing costs are expemtige income statement as
incurred.

Earnings Per ShareBasic earnings per share is based on the weightgdge number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted earnings per share idetuthe effect of options that are dilutive andstautding during the
period.

Foreign CurrenciesThe Company’s policy is that exchange differengesray on the translation of the balance sheets
of entities that have functional currencies otihantthe U.S. dollar are taken to a separate emgssrve, the cumulatiy
translation adjustment. In entities where the dd@ar is the functional currency no gains or I@ssa translation occL

In these entities gains or losses on monetarysassiating to currencies other than the U.S. daltartaken to the
income statement. Gains or losses on foreign coyreanslations are included in other net incomg/éase) in the
income statement.

Share Based Compensation Plailbe Company accounts for employee stock optiongiie fair value method.
Accordingly share based compensation is measur gfrant date based on the fair value of theooptiThe
Company uses the straight-line attribution metlwoetognize share based compensation costs oveeltviee period
of the option.

Pension Plans and Other P-Employment Benefit3he Company recognizes the funded status of debeeéfit post-
retirement plans on the consolidated balance shastischanges in the funded status in comprehemsivene. The
measurement date of the plan’s funded status isaime as the Company’s fiscal year-end.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

Income Taxe<The Company provides for income taxes by recoggideferred tax assets and liabilities for the
expected future tax consequences of temporaryrdiftes between the financial statement carryinguatsand the
relevant tax bases of the assets and liabilitidgsemMappropriate, the Company evaluates the needvfaluation
allowance to reduce deferred tax assets. The Coymeangnizes future tax benefits to the extent tbalization of suc
benefits is more likely than not. The effect onedlefd taxes of a change in tax rates is recogmizéte period that
includes the enactment date. Income tax positiamnst meet a more likely than not recognition créd¢a be recognize
The Company recognizes accrued interest and pesalsisociated with uncertain tax positions asgfancome taxes i
our consolidated statements of income.

Note 3. Business Segment and Geographical ArBata

Innospec divides its business into three distirgnsents for both management and reporting purpésest.Specialties,
Active Chemicals and Octane Additives. The Fuelcgpies and Active Chemicals businesses operateairkets
where we actively seek growth opportunities buirteed customers are different. The Octane Addstivesiness is
characterized by declining demand.

In 2010 the Company had one significant customénenFuel Specialties business, Royal Dutch Shekhpd its
affiliates (“Shell”), who accounted for $67.8 milhi (10%) of net group sales. In 2009 and 2008,| @lsebunted for
$76.1 million (13%) and $84.6 million (13%) of rggbup sales, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

The Company evaluates the performance of its setgnb@sed on operating income. The following tabkeyzes sales
and other financial information by the Company’sagable segments:

(in millions) 2010 2009 2008
Net sales

Fuel Specialtie $458.1  $422.7  $440.¢
Active Chemicals 152.7 130.2 138.:
Octane Additive: 72.4 45.¢ 61.c

$683.2 $598.¢ $640.5

Gross profit

Fuel Specialtie $147.1  $147.2  $145.¢
Active Chemicals 34.1 26.€ 12.&
Octane Additive: 36.C 15.: 28.¢

$217.2 $189.: $186.¢

Operating income

Fuel Specialtie $ 77.€ $ 81.2 $ 80.C
Active Chemicals 16.7 8.8 (5.0
Octane Additive: 25.¢ (44.¢) 1.2
Pension charg (20.9) (6.4) (2.9
Corporate cost (26.9) (13.9) (24.9)
Restructuring charg (8.7) (2.9 (2.2)
Impairment of Octane Additives business good (2.2 (2.2) (3.7)
Profit on disposal, ne 0.1 — 04
Total operating incom $722 $207 $ 43¢
Identifiable assets at year enc

Fuel Specialtie $260.2  $247.€  $247.¢C
Active Chemicals 104.¢ 103.Z 104.2
Octane Additive: 65.¢ 79.5 124.¢
Corporate 117.2 112.¢ 17.€

$548.: $543.1 $494.:

The Company includes within the corporate coses iiem the costs of:

* managing the Group as a company with securitigsdlisn the NASDAQ and registered with the S
» the President/CE’s office, group finance, group human resourcegjgtegal counsel and investor relatio
* running the corporate offices in the U.S. and Ear

» the corporate development function since they daelate to the current trading activities of otlner busines
segments; an

» the corporate share of the information technolaggounting and human resources departm
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

Sales by geographic area are reported by sourceréwthe transactions originate) and by destingtidrere the final
sales to customers are made). Intercompany sagqsiaed to recover cost plus an appropriate marfeuprofit and

are eliminated in the consolidated financial staets.

Identifiable assets are those directly associatdutive operations of the geographical area.

Goodwill has not been allocated by geographicaltion on the grounds that it would be impracticdbldo so.

(in millions)

Net sales by sourc
United State:
United Kingdom
Rest of Europi
Other

Sales between are

Net sales by destinatior
United State:

United Kingdom

Rest of Europr

Other

Income before income taxe

United State:

United Kingdom

Rest of Europr

Other

Impairment of Octane Additives business good

Long-lived assets at year en
United State:

United Kingdom

Rest of Europr

Identifiable assets at year enc
United State:

United Kingdom

Rest of Europi

Other

Goodwill
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2010 2009 2008
$238.2  $217.C  $222.¢
431.€ 356.: 383.
106.¢ 84.¢ 115.¢
0.7 0.3 0.8
(94.5) (59.9  (82.0
$683.  $598.5  $640.
$231.¢  $222.C  $236.¢
26.¢ 21.1 22.2
235.1 219.F 240.F
189.¢ 135.¢ 141.:
$683.  $598.5  $640.
$111  $(449 $ 10
25.¢ 52.4 7.
36.¢ 12.€ 4.5
(0.3) 0.1 0.2
(2.2) 2.2) (3.7)
$707 $18:  $ 18
$167 $172 $ 94
40.1 47.€ 33.¢
11.€ 11.4 10.2
$684 $76: $53E
$96.5  $112.6  $111.7
255. 225. 183.4
52.4 58.¢ 50.
0.5 0.6 0.€
143.€ 146. 148.:
$548.2  $543.1  $494.:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)
Note 4. Share Based Compensation Plans

The Company has five active stock option plans, atwvhich provide for the grant of stock optionskey employees,
one provides for the grant of stock options to eamployee directors, and another provides for ta@atgof stock optior
to key executives on a matching basis provided tlseya proportion of their annual bonus to purclcasemon stock i
the Company on the open market. The fifth plangaxangs plan which provides for the grant of stopkons to all
Company employees provided they commit to makelaegavings over a préefined period which can then be use
purchase common stock upon vesting of the optibhs.stock options have vesting periods ranging f2dnmonths to
6 years and in all cases stock options grantedexpthin 10 years of the date of grant. All graate at the sole
discretion of the Compensation Committee of therBad Directors. Grants may be priced at marketiealr at a
premium or discount. The aggregate number of shifresmmon stock reserved for issuance which cagraeted
under all five plans is 1,790,000.

The fair value of these options is calculated usimgBlack-Scholes model. In some cases certafonpesnce related
options are dependent upon external factors sutieaSompany’s share price. The fair value of tlegg@ns is
calculated using a Monte Carlo model.

The following assumptions were used to determiedadir value of options calculated using the Bl&ttoles model:

2010 2009 2008
Dividend yield 1.C% 2.5% 0.5%
Expected life 5 year: 5 year: 4 year:
Volatility 82.2% 76.5% 50.1%
Risk free interest rai 1.36% 1.24% 2.7%%

The following table summarizes the transactionthefCompany’s stock option plans for the year erdecember 31,
2010:

Weighted Weighted

Average Average Fair

Number of Exercise Price
Shares Value

Options outstanding at January 1, 2! 1,159,88! $ 2.4~

Granted - at discoun 532,18t $ 7.5¢5 $ 9.17

— at market valu 63,51¢ $ 10.4¢ $ 7.0¢
Exercisec (176,61 $ 1.1¢€
Forfeitures (61,499 $ 2.3¢
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 1,517,48. $ 4,74
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

The following table summarizes information abouti@ps outstanding at December 31, 2010:

Weighted
Weighted Weighted Number Average Weighted
Average Exercisable Remaining
Number Remaining Average Average
Range of Exercise Outstanding Life in Years Exercise and Fully Life in Exercise
Price Price Vested Years Price
$0- $5 989,40¢ 8.2z $ 0.64 35,44( 5.4t $ —
$5- $10 60,52( 3.9¢ $ 9.1¢€ 60,52( 3.9¢ $ 9.1¢€
$10- $15 408,69( 4.11 $ 11.4¢ — — $ —
$20- $25 41,38¢ 7.1¢ $ 20.3:2 — — $ —
$25- $30 17,47 6.1t $ 27.0¢ 17,47 6.1t $ 27.0¢
1,517,48 113,43

The aggregate intrinsic value of fully vested stopkions is $0.8 million. Of the 113,434 stock ops that are
exercisable, 11,240 have performance conditiomslatd. The total compensation cost for 2010, 20602808 was
$3.1 million, $1.5 million and $4.1 million, resgaely. In 2009, this charge included a gain of4saillion related to
the gain on stock options forfeited upon resigmatbthe Company’s former CEO. The total compepsatost related
to non-vested stock options not yet recognizedesttenber 31, 2010 is $5.5 million and this coskjzeeted to be
recognized over the weighted-average period of geats.

No stock options awards were modified in 2010 @@&@®n February 13, 2009, we extended the vesenigg for
132,470 grants made under a key employee perforenateted stock option plan from February 13, 2@09
February 13, 2011, and modified the performanderaito reflect the longer vesting period. Additid compensation
cost of $0.2 million is required to be recognizedthese modified stock options in the period Fabrd 3, 2009 to
February 13, 2011.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised 012, 2009 and 2008 was $3.7 million, $0.4 million &1.3 million,
respectively. The amount of cash received fromettercise of stock option awards in 2010, 2009 @@B2vas $0.2
million, $0.2 million and $1.9 million, respectiyelThe Company’s policy is to issue shares froma$uey stock to
holders of stock options who exercise those optibusing 2010, 2009 and 2008 the new total faiueadf shares
vested was $4.4 million, $1.1 million and $1.2 roifl, respectively.

The total options vested in 2010 were 174,298 (20096,848, 2008 — 264,588).

An additional long term incentive plan is in pldoeeward selected executives for delivering exoepl performance.
Under this plan a discretionary bonus will be pdgab eligible executives if the Innospec shardgrarance out-
performs that of competitors, as measured by tres&u2000 Index, by a minimum of 10% over the frears from
January 2008 to December 2012. The amount of behich can be earned will be a set cash amountsfch e
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one percentage point of out-performance. The maxirhanus under this plan will be payable for an performance
versus the Russell 2000 Index of 30%. The maximarnub under this plan, in respect of the currenigpants, is $8
million (2009 — $8 million, 2008 -1 million). No bonus is payable under this plath# Innospec share price does
out-perform the Russell 2000 Index by more than D% the five year period, or the Russell 200@inthlls in value
over the same period. The fair value of theselltgliash-settled stock appreciation rights is gklted on a quarterly
basis using a Monte Carlo model and summarized|ks\s:

2010 2009 2008
(in millions)
Balance at January $ 0.2 $ 01 $ —
Compensation char 0.€ 0.1 0.1
Balance at December : $ 0.8 $ 0.2 $ 01
The following assumptions were used in the Montdddaodel:

2010 2009 2008

Dividend yield 0.5% 1.C% 1.7%
Volatility 69.(% 82.2% 80.2%
Risk free interest rai 1.05% 1.65% 1.0(%

Note 5. Earnings Per Share Attributable to Innopec Inc.

Basic earnings per share is based on the weightsdge number of common shares outstanding dunmgériod.
Diluted earnings per share includes the effectptibos that are dilutive and outstanding duringgkdod. Per share
amounts are computed as follows:

2010 2009 2008

Numerator (in millions):

Net income attributable to Innospec | $ 73.7 $ 64 $ 12F
Denominator (in thousands):

Weighted average common shares outstar 23,75¢ 23,64 23,59¢

Dilutive effect of stock options and awal 1,05¢ 1,072 79¢€

Denominator for diluted earnings per sh 24,81« 24,71« 24,39
Net income per share, basic

Net income attributable to Innospec Inc. commogldiolders $ 3.1C $ 0.27 $ 0.5:
Net income per share, diluted

Net income attributable to Innospec Inc. commogldiolders $ 2.97 $ 0.2¢€ $ 0.51

In 2010, 2009 and 2008 the average number of @atisé options excluded from the calculation olutied earnings
per share were 61,808, 146,325 and 98,880, resphcti
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Note 6. Pension Plans

The Company maintains a contributory defined beépefnsion plan (the “Plan”) covering a number sfatirrent and
former employees in the United Kingdom, althougtiaées also have other much smaller pension arraemgsrn the
U.S. and overseas. The Plan is closed to futukecgeaccrual but has a large number of deferredcangnt pensioner
The Projected Benefit Obligation (“PBQ”) is basedfimal salary and years of credited service redumesocial
security benefits according to a plan formula. Nalrnetirement age is 65 but provisions are madedoly retirement.
The Plan’s assets are invested by two investmenagement companies in funds holding United King@o
overseas equities, United Kingdom and oversead fixerest securities, index linked securities pgirty unit trusts an
cash or cash equivalents. The trustees’ investpwidly is to seek to achieve specified objectivesuigh investing in a
suitable mixture of real and monetary assets. fustdes recognize that the returns on real asgleils, expected to be
greater over the long term than those on monetsgts, are likely to be more volatile. A mixturesss asset classes
should nevertheless provide the level of returgsired by the Plan to meet its liabilities at anegatable level of risk
for the trustees and an acceptable level of casteg@Company.

The Company closed the Plan to future service ateviih effect from March 31, 2010 and accordingly recorded a
non-cash curtailment loss of $8.2 million in thestfiquarter of 2010. During the second quarterddidi2the Company
implemented a pension increase exchange (“PIE'gnara for current pensioners, effective April 1, @0Which
reduced the PBO by $17.1 million. This reductiof?BIO resulted in a prior service credit which isngeamortized
using the straight-line method over the remainifegdxpectancy of Plan pensioners of 15 years camsing April 1,
2010. The PIE program provided pensioners withofiteon of receiving a one-off immediate increasé&r pension
in lieu of future non-statutory increases. Durihg fourth quarter of 2010 the Company implementedrdnanced
transfer value (“ETV”) program for deferred pengonwhich reduced the PBO by $15.7 million and ltedun a
settlement loss of $1.1 million. The ETV program\pded deferred pensioners with the option of tiamsg their
existing pension entitlement from the Plan to aaotlehicle in exchange for an enhancement to Hredard terms
available for such a transfer.

A full triennial actuarial valuation of the Plan svperformed as at December 31, 2008 and an updeteped as at
December 31, 2010, the results of which are redtbat these consolidated financial statements.eStpril 2010 the
Company has been contributing £5.8 million ($9.1liom) per calendar year to the Plan in accordamitle a 10-year
actuarial deficit recovery plan agreed with thestegs. Accordingly, the Company expects its ancasth contribution
for 2011 to be approximately $9 million.
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(in_millions ) 2010 2009 2008
Plan net pension charg:
Service cos $ 1€ $ 3.7 $ 5.2
Interest cost on PB: 40.¢ 38.¢ 45.7
Expected return on plan ass (35.9 (36.2) (48.7)
Amortization of prior service crec (0.9 — —
Amortization of actuarial net loss 5.2 — —

$ 10.€ $ 6.4 $ 2

(98]

Plan assumptions (%
Discount rate 5.4C 5.6( 6.5C
Inflation rate 2.8C 3.6( 3.0C
Rate of increase in compensation ley — 3.6( 3.7t
Rate of return on plan ass+ overall 5.4t 5.7¢ 6.2C
Rate of return on plan ass~ equity securitie: 7.7C 7.2C 7.8C
Rate of return on plan ass+ debt securitie 4.5C 5.8C 5.1C
Plan asset allocation by category (¥
Equity securitiet 27 26 22
Debt securitie: 73 74 76
Other — — 2
10C 10C 10C

The discount rate used represents the annualieéti g medium and longer term AA rated corporatedsan the
United Kingdom and has been determined by referanti®ge iBoxx corporate bond index published btnational
Index Company. The inflation rate is derived frdma tifference between yields on fixed interest iadex linked
United Kingdom government gilts. The rate of ine®@ compensation levels is no longer relevargesihe Company
closed the Plan to future service accrual withaffeem March 31, 2010. A 0.25% change in eitherdiscount rate
assumption, or level of price inflation assumptimould change the PBO by approximately $25 milkowl the net
pension charge for 2011 by approximately $1.1 omlliFollowing guidance issued by the United Kingdgorernment
during 2010, and agreement from the Plan trusteesCompany changed the inflation rate measure thenRetail
Prices Index to the Consumers Prices Index regultia reduction in actuarial net losses on an@atiiog basis of
approximately $47 million.

The current investment strategy of the Plan idaimio an asset allocation of 70% in favor of defisities and 30%
equity securities in order to achieve a more ptablie return on assets. As at December 31, 2012@0@,
approximately 70% of the Plan’s assets were heiddax-tracking funds with one investment managdmempany.
Approximately 35% of the Plan’s assets were investdJnited Kingdom government gilts. No more tt#a of the
Plan’s assets were invested in any one individoalgany’s investment funds.
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Movements in PBO and fair value of Plan assetaaifellows:

(in_millions ) 2010 2009
Change in PB(
Opening balanc $ 796.( $571.2
Interest cos 40.€ 38.€
Service cos 1.€ 3.7
Benefits paic (60.0) (38.9)
Plan amendmen (17.7) —
Curtailment los 8.2 —
Settlement los 11 —
Actuarial (gains)/losse (61.0) 145.]
Exchange effec (25.¢) 76.C
Closing balanc $ 684.( $ 796.(
Fair value of plan asse
Opening balanc $671.¢ $ 557.4
Actual benefits pait (60.0) (38.9)
Actual contributions by employ:s 15.t 7.1
Actual return on asse 65.5 75.€
Exchange effec (20.9) 70.2
Closing balanci $672.: $671.¢
Plan assets deficit over PE $ (11.9) $(124.2)
Unrecognized net los 150.¢ 249.]
Amortization of actuarial net loss (5.29) —
Plan amendmen (7.1 —
Amortization of prior service crec 0.€ —
Amount recognized in other comprehensive (129.7) (249.))
Pension liability $ (11.9) $(124.2)

The accumulated benefit obligation for the Plan $8&4.0 million and $771.2 million at December 3210 and 2009,
respectively.
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For the vast majority of assets, a market apprasmadopted to assess the fair value of the asgihsthe inputs being
the quoted market prices for the actual securitedd in the relevant fund. For assets in whichéhgmo ready market
and for which no indicative dealer prices are aldd, fund assets are independently evaluated théthise of agreed
upon procedures conducted by an audit firm to pil®udependent confirmation that proper valuaticctedures are

being followed. The fair values of pension assgtkelel of input were as follows:

Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Asset:
Inputs Inputs
(in millions) (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
At December 31, 201
Fixed income securitie
Debt securities issued by U.S. government and
government agencit $ = $ 1.7 $ = $ 17
Debt securities issued by r-U.S. governments ar
government agencie — 240.5 — 240.5
Corporate debt securitir — 248.¢ — 248.¢
Residential mortga¢-backed securitie — 0.€ — 0.6
Commercial mortga¢-backed securitie — 0.3 — 0.3
Other ass«-backed securitie — 6.1 — 6.1
Equity securitie:
Equity securities held for proprietary investment
purpose: 10.€ 97.€ 108.2
Real estat — 28.7 — 28.7
Other asset — 11.z 23.2 34.€
Total assets at fair vall 10.€ 635.% 23.5 669.€
Cash 2.7 — — 2.7
Total plan asset $ 13.2 $ 635.7 $ 23.2 $672.¢
At December 31, 200
Fixed income securitie
Debt securities issued by U.S. government and
government agencit $ — $ 1.3 $ — $ 1.3
Debt securities issued by non-U.S. governments and
government agencie — 253.2 34 256.¢€
Corporate debt securitit — 266.3 — 266.<
Residential mortga¢-backed securitie — 0.8 — 0.8
Commercial mortga¢-backed securitie — 0.3 — 0.3
Agency securitized produc — 0.2 — 0.2
Other ass«-backed securitie — 2.7 — 2.7
Equity securitie:
Equity securities held for proprietary investment
purpose: 7.4 89.5 — 96.7
Real estat — 27.5 — 27.5
Other asset — — 18.C 18.C
Total assets at fair valt 7.4 641. 214 670.z
Cash 1.€ — — 1.6
Total plan assel $ 9.C $ 641.4 $ 21.4 $671.¢
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The reconciliation of the fair value of the Plasets using significant unobservable inputs (Leyal&s as follows:

(in millions)

Balance at January 1, 20
Realized/unrealized (losses)/gai
Relating to assets still held at the reporting
Transfers in/(out) of Level

Exchange effec

Balance at December 31, 2C
Realized/unrealized (losses)/gai
Relating to assets still held at the reporting «
Purchases, issuances and settlerr
Transfers in/(out) of Level

Exchange effec

Balance at December 31, 2C

Debt Securities

Issued by Non-

U.S.
Government
and
Government
Agencies

$ 2.7

0.2
0.4

3.4

The projected net pension charge for the year gndecember 31, 2011 is as follows:

(in millions)

Service cos
Interest cost on PB!

Expected return on plan ass
Amortization of prior service crec
Amortization of actuarial net loss

The following benefit payments are expected to been

(in millions)

2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
201€-2020

Company contributions to defined contribution scherduring 2010 were $5.5 million (2009 — $2.5 roid).

Total

$23.€

(3.1)
(1.7)
2.6

21.4

(0.5)
5.3
2.2)
(0.7)

$23.c

R BPBBHBH AP

N
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Note 7. Income Taxes

A roll-forward of unrecognized tax benefits andaxsated accrued interest and penalties is as fetlow

(in millions)

Opening balance at January 1, 2

Additions related to tax positions taken in thereat perioc
Additions for tax positions of prior perio

Reductions for tax positions of prior peric

Exchange effec

Settlement:

Closing balance at December 31, 2!
Current

Non-current

Opening balance at January 1, 2

Additions related to tax positions taken in therent perioc
Additions for tax positions of prior perio

Exchange effec

Settlement:

Closing balance at December 31, 2!
Current

Non-current

Opening balance at January 1, 2

Additions related to tax positions taken in therent perioc
Additions for tax positions of prior perio

Settlement:

Closing balance at December 31, 2!
Current

Non-current

Interest and

Penalties

$ 3.8

0.7

05
(0.5

3.5
(1.7)

$ 1.8

$ 35
2.5
0.4
0.2
2.9

3.8
(1.0)

$ 2.8

$ 3.8

0.1
(3.6)

0.3
(0.2)

$ 0.1

Unrecognizec

Tax Benefits

$ 36
2.2

11.€

(9.5)

(5.7)

(3.5)

31.2
(7.5)

$ 23.¢

$ 31.2
6.9

1.2

(23.9)

15.€
(4.0)

$ 11.¢

$ 15.¢

2.C
(9.2)

8.3
2.0)

$ 6.3

Total

$ 40.C
2.2
12.%
(9.5)
(6.2)
(4.0)
34.¢
(9.2)

$ 25.€
$34.€
9.4
0.4
1.4
(26.6)

19.4
(5.0)

$14.4

$19.4

2.1
(12.9)

8.6
2.2)

$ 64

All of the $8.6 million of unrecognized tax bensfiand interest and penalties, would impact owrcéife tax rate if

recognized.

We recognize accrued interest and penalties asedarath uncertain tax positions as part of incamees in our

consolidated statements of income.
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On January 11, 2010, Innospec Limited (a Unitedgdom subsidiary of the Company) and the United Horg tax
authorities (“HMRC”) entered into an agreementlsgjtcertain tax positions (“the Agreement”). ThgrAement
provided for the payment of £3.9 million ($6.3 naitl) which was paid on January 21, 2010. The Agezdrfinalized
all but one outstanding United Kingdom issue betwthe Company and HMRC. On July 16, 2010, Inno$pedted
and HMRC reached an agreement on the outstandiitgdJKingdom issue excluded from the Agreement Wwhic
resulted in a reduction of $5.0 million in unrecamg tax benefits in the second quarter of 2010remddditional tax
cost.

As previously disclosed, the Company has been sisgethe possible tax implications arising from sed¢tlement of th
United Nations Oil for Food Program (“OFFP”) ane td.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) intigations.
The Company determined in the first quarter of 202 an element of the $42.7 million settlememrtaals would be
tax deductible and accordingly recorded a $2.0ianiladdition to unrecognized tax benefits. On Seper 30, 2010,
Innospec Limited and HMRC reached an agreememation to the investigations which provided foraaditional
payment of $0.7 million and resulted in a reductid$4.9 million in unrecognized tax benefits ir tird quarter of
2010. The Company has assessed the tax implicatidhe U.S. and has filed the U.S. tax returngétgvant years in
January 2011. The additional tax cost was nomindlrasulted in a reduction of $3.0 million in urvgnized tax
benefits in the fourth quarter of 2010.

The Company or one of its subsidiaries files incaaxereturns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, aradious state and
foreign jurisdictions.

The Company and its U.S. subsidiaries remain ope&xamination by the IRS for years 1998 onwardstduke net
operating losses in the period 1998 to 2002, aijhow examination is currently underway. The Comgfsgan
subsidiaries in foreign tax jurisdictions are opemexamination including France (2007 onwards),n@ery (2005
onwards), Switzerland (2007 onwards) and the Urfiegdom (2007 onwards).

The sources of income before income taxes werellasvs:

(in millions) 2010 2009 2008
Domestic (U.S. $11.1 $ 8.2 $10.C
Foreign 59.€ 10.C 8.¢

$70.7 $18.2 $18.€
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The components of income tax charges are summaaizéallows:

(in millions) 2010 2009 2008
Current:
Federa $ 7.2 $ 2C $5.€
Foreign 4.C 10.4 1.4
$11.2 $12.4 $7.C
Deferred:
Federa $ (9.0 $ 0.2 $4CE
Foreign (5.2) (0.9 (5.9
(14.2) (0.5 (0.7

$ (3.0 $11.¢ $6.3

Cash payments for income taxes were $22.9 mil$8r6 million and $24.6 million during 2010, 20092008,
respectively.

The effective tax rate varies from the U.S. fedstatutory rate because of the factors indicatéolbe

2010 2009 2008
Statutory rate 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
Foreign income inclusio 7.1 23.C 47.€
Impairment of Octane Additives business good 1.1 4.3 7.1
Foreign tax credi (7.2 (18.) (21.9)
Pension charg (1.2) (8.0 (18.2)
Foreign tax rate differenti (13.5) (18.¢) (15.2)
Unrecognized net operating los: — (10.5) (10.0
Permanent tax adjustmet (2.1 5.8 (8.9
Amortization 1.7 (0.2 (4.2
Tax (credit)/charge from previous ye: (2.9 65.1 22.C
Net credit from unrecognized tax bene (15.9) (92.]) —
OFFP/FCPA settlement accrt (5.6) 76.7 —
Other items and adjustments (r (2.5 <He (0.9
(4.2% 65.(% 33.5%

Significant factors affecting the variation to staty rate are set out above and include foreigonme inclusions net of
foreign tax credits. There was a favorable impasiray from a reduction in the Company’s unrecogdirax benefits
position following the settlement of a historic téd Kingdom tax issue and concluding the assessofii¢ng tax
implications from the OFFP and FCPA investigatioffse Company’s determination that an element ot#tdement
accrual was tax deductible also had a favorableah@he mix of
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taxable profits generated in the different geogi@dHocalities in which the Group operates hadyaificant positive
impact on the effective tax rate in 2010.

Details of deferred tax assets and liabilitiesasdollows:

(in millions) 2010 2009
Deferred tax assets
Excess of tax over book basis in property, pladit@uipmen $ 2€ $ 24
Net operating loss carry forwar 0.€ 2.C
Pension liability 4.2 35.C
Stock options 3.t 2.8
Foreign tax credit 13.5 4.4
Accrued expense 7.7 1.¢
Other 5.2 4.3
37.5 52.¢
Valuation allowanct (10.§) (4.9
Total deferred tax asse 26.7 48.4
Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible assetl (3.5 (4.4
Other (5.9 (3.9
Goodwill amortizatior 4.7 (4.0
(24.0 (11.5)
Total net deferred tax ass¢ $12.7 $ 36.¢

Details of the deferred tax asset valuation alloseaare as follows:

(in millions) 2010 2009 2008
At January 1 $ (4.9 $(7.3) $(8.8)
Change in foreign tax credi (6.4) 1.C 1.1
Change in net operating loss carry forwe — 1.¢ 0.4
At December 3: $(10.¢) $(4.4) $(7.3)

As a result of the Company’s assessment of itslefetrred tax assets at December 31, 2010, the Gongoasiders it
more likely than not that no valuation allowanceggquired for $0.6 million (2009 — $2.0 million) t$ net operating
loss carry forwards and that a partial valuatidovednce is required against its foreign tax credity forwards.

The net operating loss carry forwards arose in @agnand in the U.S. in prior periods as a resultarfing and state
tax losses. It is expected that sufficient taxaitdits will be generated against which these petrating loss carry
forwards can be relieved and there is no time &tioh to use these losses. The foreign tax credity forwards arose
inthe U.S. in
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prior periods. The Company has determined thatduftareign income inclusions will be sufficientualize
approximately $2.7 million (2009 — $nil) of the &gn tax credit carry forwards and therefore onpastial valuation
allowance is required.

Should it be determined in the future that it idoxager more likely than not that these assetsheilfealized, an
additional valuation allowance would be requirat] he Company’s operating results would be adeedtected
during the period in which such a determination ld¢dae made.

The Company has not made provision for deferredtaxnremitted earnings from overseas subsidiangfe grounds
that they will not be remitted as they are requirethe entities concerned or will continue to Isedito fund further
investment into other territories. The amount afemnitted earnings at December 31, 2010 and 200%p@®ximately
$637 million and $616 million, respectively. Anytdemination of the potential amount of unrecognideterred taxes
is not practicable due to the complexities assediatith the hypothetical calculation.
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Note 8. Goodwill

Goodwill comprises the following:

(in millions)

At January 1, 2009

Gross cos

Accumulated Octane Additives business goodwill impant
losses

Exchange effec
Impairment of Octane Additives business good

At December 31, 200

Gross cos
Accumulated Octane Additives business goodwill impant
losses

Accumulated amortizatio— at January 1, 20C
Exchange effec

Accumulated amortizatio— at December 31, 20(

Net book amour— at December 31, 20(

At January 1, 201

Gross cos

Accumulated Octane Additives business goodwill impant
losses

Exchange effec
Impairment of Octane Additives business good

Gross cos- at December 31, 201

Gross cos
Accumulated Octane Additives business goodwill impant
losses

Accumulated amortizatio— at January 1, 201
Exchange effec

Accumulated amortizatio- at December 31, 201

Net book amour— at December 31, 201

Fuel Active Octane
Specialtie: Chemicals Additives
Total
$ 117.¢ $ 304 $ 526.1 $673.¢
— — (227.6) (227.6)
117.¢ 30.4 298.t 446.:
04 — — 04
— — (2.2) (2.2)
117.¢ 30.4 296.< 444 ¢
117.¢ 30.4 526.1 674.c
— — (229.9) (229.9)
117.¢ 30.4 296.< 444 ¢
(8.9) 0.9) (289.5) (298.))
(0.4) — — (0.4)
(8.7) 0.3 (289.5) (298.5)
$ 109.] $ 30.1 $ 6.8 $ 146.(
$ 117.¢ $ 304 $ 526.] $674.:
— — (229.9) (229.9)
117.¢ 30.4 296.< 444
(0.2) — — (0.2)
— — (2.2) (2.2)
117.¢ 30.4 294.1 442.]
117.¢ 30.4 526.1 674.]
- — (232.0 (232.0
117.¢ 30.4 294.1 442.]
(8.7) 0.3 (289.5) (298.5)
(8.7) 0.3 (289.5) (298.5)
$ 108.¢ $ 30.1 $ 4.€ $143.¢
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The Company’s reporting units are generally coastsiith the operating segments underlying the segsndentified
in Note 3.

The Company tests goodwill annually for impairmemtbetween years if events occur or circumstanbhaage which
suggest that an impairment may have occurred.

Innospec divides its business into three distieghgents for both management and reporting purpéses:Specialties,
Active Chemicals and Octane Additives. All of trengponents in each segment (including products, etsudknd
competitors) have similar economic characteristiocd management makes key operating decisions basibe
performance of each segment. We therefore belletebusiness segment level is the appropriate tiagamit level fo
testing the impairment of goodwill.

To determine the fair value of each of our repgrtimits we utilize a discounted cash flow methodglbased on the
forecasted future after-tax cash flows from operedifor each since we believe this provides thé dggsroximation of
fair value. This methodology requires us to malsuagptions and estimates including those in resectture revenue
growth and gross margins, which are based upotoagrrange plans, and the Company’s weighted aeecagt of
capital. Our long range plans are regularly updatedart of our planning processes and are reviewdapproved by
management and our Board of Directors. We assumerial values for the Fuel Specialties and Activee@icals
reporting units which are added to the presentevafithe relevant forecasted future cash flows.ag&ime no terminal
value for the Octane Additives reporting unit beyais estimated future life. The discounted castviinethodology
does not assume a control premium. We use a discatgnequivalent to the Company’s weighted avecagt of
capital which is estimated by reference to the alvafter-tax rate of return required by equity alebt market
participants in the Company. We assign assetsialiities, including deferred income taxes anddeil, to our
reporting units if the asset or liability relatesthe operations of that reporting unit and isudeld in determining the
fair value of the reporting unit. Cash and debigailons are excluded from the carrying value af reporting units.

In 2010 some of the assumptions and estimates pinaé@rg our discounted cash flows have been revasgoiart of our
planning processes although the methodology walsainged. The most significant revision was thatGbenpany’s
weighted average cost of capital was increaseeflect the changing proportion of debt to equityding within the
business.

The Company elected to perform its annual testespect of Fuel Specialties and Active Chemicatedgoll as at
December 31 each year. At December 31, 2010 w&ba8.9 million and $30.1 million of goodwill relagj to our Fue
Specialties and Active Chemicals businesses, raéspBc At this date we performed annual impairmessts and
concluded that there has been no impairment of\giblad respect of those reporting segments.
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In light of the continuing decline in the Octanedid/es market globally, as the Company makes s#i€xctane
Additives in each quarter, the remaining sales@mcesponding cash flows that can be derived ftoerQctane
Additives business are reduced, and accordinglydinealue of the Octane Additives reporting ugiteduced. As a
result, the Company determined that quarterly immpant tests be performed from January 1, 2004 agpdnapairment
charge arising be recognized in the relevant quaktea result of the Octane Additives impairmessts performed
during 2010, 2009 and 2008 impairment charges ¢f ##llion, $2.2 million and $3.7 million, respeatly, have been
recognized. These charges are non-cash in natdreaare no impact on taxation. There is $4.6 milbidigoodwill
remaining at December 31, 2010 which relates t@ittane Additives business. Given the quantum aedigtability
of the remaining future cash flows from the Octawlglitives business, the Company expects goodwlaimment
charges to be recognized in the income statemean@pproximate straight-line basis to Decembef312.

The table below presents the impact a change ifotloaving significant assumptions would have hadour
impairment charge recognized at December 31, 288€ming all other assumptions and factors remaioestant:

Approximate Increase/(Decrease

(in millions) to Impairment Charge
Fuel Active Octane
Change Specialties Chemicals Additives
Weighted average cost of capi +1C% $ — $ — $ 0.7
Weighted average cost of capi -10% — — (0.7)
After-tax cash flows +1C% — — (6.4)
After-tax cash flow: -10% $ — $ — $ 64

We believe that the assumptions used in our arandgfjuarterly impairment tests are reasonablehbatithey are
judgmental, and variations in any of the assumpgtimay result in materially different calculatiorfarapairment
charges, if any.
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Note 9. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets comprise the following:

(in millions) 2010 2009
Gross cos
— Ethyl $22.1 $22.1
— Technology 7.1 7.1
— Customer relationshig 16.C 16.C
- Patents 2.€ 2.6
48.1 48.1
Accumulated amortizatio
— Ethyl (13.7) (11.0
— Technology (4.6 (3.9
— Customer relationshig (9.7) (8.1
- Patent: 2.7 (1.4
(29.]) (24.9)
$ 19.C $ 23.7

Ethyl

An intangible asset of $28.4 million was recognirethe second quarter of 2007 in respect of Hitndgoing their
entitlement effective April 1, 2007 to a sharelod future income stream under the sales and magkatjreements to
market and sell tetra ethyl lead (“TEL”). In 2008¢ract provisions no longer deemed necessary .8fifélion were
offset against the intangible asset. The amounbatéd to the Octane Additives business segmeueiisy amortized
straighttine to December 31, 2012 and the amount attribtde¢de Fuel Specialties business segment is laamgtize
straight-line to December 31, 2017. An amortizatbarge of $2.1 million was recognized in 2010 @6052.1
million).

Technology

Following the acquisition of the remaining 50% phbspec Fuel Specialties LLC on July 8, 2004, tbm@any
recognized an intangible asset of $2.3 milliondgpect of various technological approvals the lassihas received
from certain military and civilian authorities. Thpprovals act as a barrier to entry to any paeatimpetitor in the
market who would wish to supply these products.

An intangible asset of $4.8 million was recogniredespect of a number of specialized manufactupigesses carri
out by Innospec Widnes Limited following the acains of that entity in August 2004.

Both of these assets have an expected life of aBsyand are being amortized on a straight-linesbagr this period.
No residual value is anticipate
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Customer relationships

Following the acquisition of Finetex (now mergetbiinnospec Active Chemicals LLC) in January 206%, Company
recognized an intangible asset totaling $7.1 nmi|l®4.2 million of which was in relation to custantists acquired.
This asset has an expected life of 13 years abeling amortized on a straight-line basis over plisod. No residual
value is anticipated.

Intangible assets were recognized in 2004 in régsddaoth the Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC ($9ibion) and
Innospec Widnes Limited ($2.8 million) acquisitipasid relate to ongoing customer relationshipss&h®ve an
expected life of 10 years and are being amortized straight-line basis over that period. No residalue is
anticipated.

Patents

Following the acquisition of Finetex, the Compaagagnized an intangible asset of $2.9 million spect of patents
and trademarks. These have an expected life otafsyand are being amortized on a straigktbasis over that peric

Intangible asset amortization expense was $4.7omjl$4.7 million and $7.4 million in 2010, 200962008,
respectively.

Future amortization expense is estimated to be ®dlibn per annum for 2011 and 2012, and $3.5iomllper annum
for 2013.

Note 10. Deferred Finance Costs

On February 6, 2009, we entered into a three-yrante facility. The refinancing was treated ag@mguishment of
the previous debt facility. As a result, $0.5 moitliof deferred finance costs relating to the previfacility were written
off in 2009. In 2009 and 2008, $3.4 million and®Million of refinancing costs were capitalizedspectively. These

are amortized over the expected life of the relefiaance facility using the effective interest imed.

(in millions) 2010 2009
Gross cos $3.¢ $3.¢
Accumulated amortizatio (3.4 (2.0

$0.E $1.¢

Amortization expense was $1.4 million, $2.0 milliand $0.5 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respetyivThe charge
is included in interest expense (see Note 2).
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Note 11. Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment consists of the fohg:

(in millions) 2010 2009
Land $ 71 $ 7.2
Buildings 4.7 5.2
Equipment 110.7 108.(
Work in progres: 5.8 4.3
128.c 124.¢
Less accumulated depreciati (79.€) (74.2)
$ 48.7 $ 50.€

Of the total net book value of equipment at Decan3fie 2010 and 2009 no amounts are in respectsetabeld under
capital leases.

Depreciation charges were $9.3 million, $11.7 willand $15.1 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, retpely.
The estimated additional cost to complete workrogpess is $1.4 million (2009—$1.7 million).

Note 12. Plant Closure Provisions

The principal site giving rise to environmental esfration liabilities is the Octane Additives maruitaing site at
Ellesmere Port, which is the last ongoing manufactaf TEL. There are also environmental remedmaliabilities on ¢
much smaller scale in respect of our other manufag sites in the U.S. and Europe. The liabildy éstimated closul
costs of Innospec’s Octane Additives manufactufaagities includes costs for personnel reducti(severance),
decontamination and environmental remediation dies/(remediation) when demand for TEL diminishésverance
provisions have also been made in relation to Gatpgersonnel and personnel in each of the thusiedss segments.
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Movements in the provisions are summarized asvaio

(in millions)

Total at January 1, 20(
Charge for the perio
Expenditure

Exchange effec

Total at December 31, 20!
Due within one yea

Balance at December 31, 2C

Total at January 1, 20(
Charge for the perio
Expenditure

Exchange effec

Total at December 31, 20!
Due within one yea

Balance at December 31, 2C

Total at January 1, 20!
Charge for the perio
Expenditure

Exchange effec

Total at December 31, 20:
Due within one yea

Balance at December 31, 2C

Severanci

$ 24
0.
(1.6)
(0.1)

1.6
(1.5)

$ 01
$ 1€
1.6
(2.2)

1.2
(0.2)

$ 11

$ 1.2
0.5
(0.4)
0.1

1.
(0.5)

$ 1c

Other
Restructuring

$ 0.€
1.2

(1.7)
0.1

0.2

$ 0.2

$ 0.2
1.C
(0.2)

1.
(1.0)

$ —

$ 1.C

0.9
0.1)

0.1
(0.1)

$ —

Remediatior

$  23¢
2.8
(1.6
0.1

25.1
(2.6)

$ 22.F

25.¢
(3.9)

$ 22.¢

Total

$26.€

4.9
(4.9
0.1

26.€
4.7

$22.¢
$26.¢
4.8
(3.9
0.5

28.4
(3.9

$24.5
$28.4
3.
(3.9

27.E
(3.9

$23.€

Amounts due within one year refer to provisions mehexpenditure is expected to arise within one pééne balance

sheet date. Severance charges are recognizedimctme statement as restructuring costs along etitar

restructuring costs. Remediation costs are recegrniz cost of goods sold.

Severance

A charge of $0.5 million was recognized in respga reduction in EMEA headcount.

Remediation

The remediation provision represents the fair valude Company’s liability for asset retirementigations. The
accretion expense recognized in 2010 was $2.1omillThis remediation charge was increased by $@li®min 2010
from 2009 in respect of changes in the scope aféutemediation activities offset by an increasthenCompany’s

weighted average cost of capital.
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The Company records environmental liabilities wiiegy are probable and costs can be estimated raalgoiihe
Company has to anticipate the program of work meguand the associated future expected costs,amntbltomply
with environmental legislation in the relevant ctiigs. The Company views the costs of vacatingei@smere Port
site as a contingent liability because there ipmsent intention to exit the site. The Companyfuebker determined
that, due to the uncertain product life of TEL,tmadarly in the market for aviation gasoline, thaxists such
uncertainty as to the timing of such cash flowd thia not possible to estimate them sufficientiably to recognize a
provision.

Remediation expenditure against provisions was @llibn, $1.5 million and $1.6 million in 2010, 29 and 2008,
respectively.

Note 13. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following:

(in millions) 2010 2009
Senior term loai $40.C $ 50.C
Revolving credi 7.C 1.C
47.C 51.C
Less current portio (15.0 (20.0)
$ 32.C $41.C

On February 6, 2009, we entered into a three-ypanée facility which provides for borrowings by afsup to $150
million including a term loan of $50 million andvwaving credit facility of $100 million. The revoing credit facility
can be drawn down until the finance facility expimn February 6, 2012. The term loan repaymentasafellows: $10
million was paid on February 5, 2010; $15 millioasyaid on February 7, 2011; and $25 million is aué&ebruary 6,
2012.

The Company’s finance facility contains restrictolauses which may constrain our activities andkt lour operational
and financial flexibility. The facility obliges thenders to comply with a request for utilizatidrfinance unless there
an event of default outstanding. Events of defardtdefined in the finance facility and include atenial adverse
change to our business, properties, assets, faagamdition or results of operations. The facitgntains a number of
restrictions that limit our ability, amongst othlthings, and subject to certain limited exceptidasncur additional
indebtedness, pledge our assets as security, gearalpligations of third parties, make investmemtslergo a merger
or consolidation, dispose of assets, or matercibnge our line of business.

In addition, the facility also contains terms whidihoreached, would result in the loan becomingaseable on demand.
It requires, among other matters, compliance with financial covenant ratios measured on a qugrbasis. These
requirements are (1) the ratio of
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net debt to EBITDA shall not be greater than 2dnd (2) the ratio of EBITDA to net interest shait be less than
4.0:1. EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure of liquidityfahed in the finance facility. Management belietiest the
Company has not breached these covenants throutjteopériod to December 31, 2010 and expects tbneaich these
covenants for the next 12 months. The financeitped secured by a number of fixed and floatingrgjes over certain
assets of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The weighted average rate of interest on borrowinas 4.1% at December 31, 2010 and 4.4% at Dece3ih@009.
Payments of interest on long-term debt were $21omj $2.9 million and $4.7 million in 2010, 20@d 2008,
respectively.

The net cash outflows in respect of refinancingsogere $nil, $3.7 million and $0.4 million in 2012009 and 2008,
respectively.

Note 14. Deferred Income

Deferred income consists of:

(in millions) 2010 2009
Deferred incom $1.C $0.¢
Less: current portio (0.2) (0.2)

$0.¢ $0.8

Deferred income relates to $1.0 million of postwsiion government grants received by Innospeambe@mbH.
Note 15. Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock Treasury Stock
( number of shares in thousand) 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008
At January 29,55¢ 29,55¢ 29,55¢ 589(C 5,95¢ 5,777
Exercise of option — — — (18€) (68) (359
Stock purchase — — — 147 2 53<
At December 3: 29,55¢ 29,55¢ 29,55¢ 5851 5,89 5,95¢

At December 31, 2010, the Company had authorizethwan stock of 40,000,000 shares (2009 — 40,000,06€)ed
shares at December 31, 2010, were 29,554,500 2@9%54,500) and treasury stock amounted to 588Blshares
(2009 - 5,890,447).
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Note 16. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price that would be receivedeiban asset or paid to transfer a liability inaderly transaction
between market participants at the measuremen{esteprice). The Company utilizes a mid-markeatiog
convention for valuing the majority of its assetsl &iabilities measured and reported at fair valtee Company utilize
market data or assumptions that market participaotdd use in pricing the asset or liability, inding assumptions
about risk and the risks inherent in the inputdh&valuation technique. These inputs can be reabtigervable, market
corroborated or generally unobservable. The Compainyarily applies the market approach for recuyfiair value
measurements and endeavors to utilize the besahlainformation. Accordingly, the Company utilizealuation
techniques that maximize the use of observabletsngmod minimize the use of unobservable inputs.bompany is
able to classify fair value balances based on tisemvability of those inputs. The Company givesttiggest priority to
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets fortidahassets or liabilities (Level 1 measurement) the lowest
priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measuretndfinancial assets and liabilities are classifretheir entirety
based on the lowest Level of input that is sigaificto the fair value measurement. The Compangssassnent of the
significance of a particular input to the fair valoneasurement requires judgment and may affestal@tion of fair
value assets and liabilities and their placemetttivthe fair value hierarchy Levels. In 2010, @@mpany evaluated
the fair value hierarchy levels assigned to itetssand liabilities, and concluded that there shdel no transfers into
out of Level 1, 2 and 3.

The following table presents the carrying amourdt fair values of the Company’s assets and liabditheasured on a
recurring basis at December 31, 2010 and 2009:

2010 2009
Carrying Carrying Fair
Fair Value

(in_millions ) Amount Value Amount
Assets
Non-derivatives:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 107.1 $107.1 $ 68.€ $68.€
Shor-term investment 4.2 4.2 — —
Non-financial assets (Level 3 measurement
Goodwill - Octane Additive: 4.€ 4.€ 6.8 6.8
Derivatives (Level 1 measurement)
Commaodity swap 1.7 1.7 1.€ 1.€
Foreign currency forward exchange contr: 0.7 0.7 — —
Liabilities
Non-derivatives:
Long-term debt (including current portio 47.C 47.C 51.C 51.C
Derivatives (all Level 1 measurement)
Interest rate sway 0.t 0.t 0.4 0.4
Foreign currency forward exchange contr: $ — $ — $ 0.2 $ 0.2
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The following methods and assumptions were usedtimate the fair values of financial instruments:

Cash and cash equivalents, and short-term invegené&he carrying amount approximates fair value becatisiee
short-term maturities of such instruments.

Long-term debtThe carrying amount of long-term debt drawn unterthree-year finance facility approximates fair
value based on the period of time to maturity.

Derivatives:The fair value of derivatives relating to intereste swaps, foreign currency forward exchange eotgr
and commodity swaps are derived from current seéte prices and comparable contracts using cuassumptions.

The cumulative gains and losses on the interestssaaps and commodity swaps are summarized asvfollo

201¢
(in millions) 2009
Balance at January $1.2 $(2.C)
Change in fair value —
3.2
Balance at December : $1.2 $1.2

On June 12, 2009, the Company entered into $50li@mof interest rate swaps which amortize andureabetween
February 2010 and February 2012 in line with threglterm debt maturity profile. At December 31, 2@4€ interest
rate swaps have been designated as a cash flow hgd@st $40.0 million of underlying floating rakebt obligations,
that stood at $47.0 million at December 31, 20104, gualify for hedge accounting throughout the gearded
December 31, 2010 and 2009.

The commodity swaps are used to manage the Congeasgh flow exposure to raw material cost volgtillthey have
been designated as cash flow hedges and all themodity swaps qualify for hedge accounting throughba years
ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.

The interest rate and commodity hedges were datedrip be effective and consequently the net uzezhbain of
$1.2 million at December 31, 2010 (2009 — net uired gain of $1.2 million) has been recorded iment
comprehensive income. Ineffectiveness was detedrtmée immaterial in 2010, 2009 and 2008 and alegly no
gain or loss was recognized in earnings in theseg® Based on the valuations as at December(®@1 the Company
expects a net unrealized gain of $0.9 million todmassified into earnings in the next 12 montid the remaining
$0.3 million to be reclassified into earnings ie following 12 months.

Foreign currency forward exchange contracts primagiate to contracts entered into to hedge fukun@wvn
transactions or hedge balance sheet net cashgmssiihe movements in the carrying amounts and/édires of these
contracts are largely due to changes in excharige against the U.S. dollar.
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Note 17. Derivative Instruments and Risk Manageent

The Company has limited involvement with derivatinstruments and does not trade them. The Compaey dse
derivatives to manage certain interest rate, foreigrency exchange rate and raw material costsexps.

The Company uses interest rate swaps, floors,rantid cap agreements to reduce the impact of ceangeterest rate
on its floating rate debt. The swap agreements@m&acts to exchange floating rate for fixed iag¢mpayments
periodically over the life of the agreements withthe exchange of the underlying notional amourit® notional
amounts are used to calculate interest to be paeceived and do not represent the amount of expds credit loss.

The Company decided to hedge a proportion of thetanding floating rate debt obligation. As at Deber 31, 2010
the Company had the following interest rate instata in effect (notional amounts in millions):

Notional
Amount Strike
(in millions) Rate Expiry date
Interest rate swa $ 7E 1.443%% February 7, 201
$ 7E 1.450(% February 7, 201
$ 15.C 1.825(% February 6, 201
$ 10.C 1.870(% February 6, 201

The notional amount under the first two swaps alvedeced from $12.5 million to $7.5 million on Febry 5, 2010.

The Company has hedged the cost of certain rawrialgtevith commodity swaps. As at December 31, 2&i@ 2009
the Company had the following summarized commoslitgps:

2010 2009
Carryin Fair Carryin Fair
ying Value ying Value
(in_millions ) Amount Amount
Notional quantity- 1,350 tonne: $ 1€ $1.€
Notional quantity- 2,950 tonne: $ 1.7 $1.7
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These derivative instruments have been classiBathah flow hedging relationships. Their effecte®nhas been tesi
and determined to be effective during the yeargeémkcember 31, 2010 and 2009. The impact on twena
statement for the last 12 months is summarizedabelo

Gain/(Loss) Amount of Gain/(Loss]

Recognized it Location of Gain/(Loss) Reclassified from

OClon Reclassified from Accumulated OCI

(in millions) Derivative Accumulated OCI into Income into Income

Interest rate contrac $ (0.7) Interest income/(expens $ (0.6)
Commaodity contract 1.2 Cost of goods sol 1.2
0.€ 0.€
Taxation (0.2 Income taxe: (0.2
$ 0.4 $ 0.4

We enter into various foreign currency forward exaipe contracts to minimize currency exposure frapeeted future
cash flows. The contracts have maturity dates dbupyears at the date of inception. These foreigrency forward
exchange contracts have not been designated amedstruments, and their impact on the incomeestant in 2010,
2009 and 2008 is summarized below:

Amount of Gain/(Loss)

(in millions) Recognized in Income
Location of Gain/(Loss) 201C
Recognized in Income 2009 2008
Foreign currency forward exchange contri  Other income/(expens $0.€¢  $12.C  $(12.9)

The Company sells a range of Fuel SpecialtiesyAdiihemicals and Octane Additives to major oilnefies and
chemical companies throughout the world. Credittipongoing credit evaluation and account monii@procedures
are used to minimize bad debt risk. Collateralasgenerally required.
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Note 18. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company has commitments under operating lgagearily for office space, motor vehicles and eas items of
computer and office equipment. The leases are éxqpéc be renewed and replaced in the normal cadrsasiness.
Rental expense was $2.8 million in 2010, $2.6 onillin 2009 and $2.2 million in 2008. Future comnatrts under
non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:

(in millions)

2011 $1.3
2012 1.1
2013 0.7
2014 0.5
2015 0.5
Thereaftel 1.4

$5.8

Commitments in respect of environmental remediadibligations are disclosed in Note 12.

Contingencies

Resolution of the United Nations Oil for Food Progm (‘OFFP”) and U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act
(“FCPA”) investigations and U.S. Cuban Assets CoaliRegulations (“CACR”) matters

As we have previously disclosed, the Company has & subject of investigations by U.S. and Unkkedydom
government authorities into certain legacy traneastconducted by the Company and its subsidianegr the OFFP,
the FCPA, the CACR and United Kingdom anti-briblnys. The Company and its officers and directolly fu
cooperated during the investigations with the &&curities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), the D&partment
of Justice (“DOJ"), the U.S. Office of Foreign Ass€ontrol (“OFAC”) and the United Kingdom Seridasaud Office
(“SFQ”) (collectively, “Government Authorities”).

In the first quarter of 2010, the Company entergd a $40.2 million settlement with the Governm&uthorities to
resolve all matters relating to the investigatiohs part of this settlement the Company (i) pledtgun the U.S.
District Court for the District of Columbia to ad@lve count indictment alleging wire fraud under @eFP and
violations of the FCPA in relation to illegal paynte made to government officials in Iraq and Induag(ii) agreed to
pay to the DOJ a criminal fine of between $7.7 iomilland $14.1 million contingent on future tradargd to retain an
independent corporate compliance monitor for atléaee (3) years, subject to conditions which i@liow for a
reduction or extension of the term, (iii) agreedliggorge $11.2 million to settle a civil actiorobght by the SEC
alleging
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Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and FCPA violatifmndailing to maintain proper internal controlscabooks and
records violations, (iv) agreed to a civil penafy$2.2 million to settle OFAC allegations of vittans of the CACR,
and (v) pled guilty in the Southwark Crown Coumgtand, to criminal charges of conspiracy to correfating to the
SFO investigation with a Crown Court penalty of #1@illion. These fines, penalties and disgorgemeant expected
to be payable over a period of four years anditsegayments aggregating to $10.0 million were entdeach of the
DOJ, SEC, OFAC and Southwark Crown Court in Ap@ilQ. In September 2010 a payment of $2.5 millios wade
to the DOJ which comprises a portion of the finaahs contingent on future trading. In Decembet@@ayments of
$6.7 million were made to the Government Authaositids at December 31, 2010, the expected scheflpyments is
as follows:

Government Compliance
(in millions) Authorities Monitor Total
Fines, penalties and disgorgeme $ 40.2 $ — $40.2
Probable future expens — 3.¢ 3.¢
Less discounting to net present va (0.7 — (0.7
39.5 3.9 43.4
Amounts paid
— fixed (16.7) — (16.7)
— contingent on future tradir (2.5 — (2.5
Exchange effec 0.2 — 0.2
20.€ 3.9 24t
Due within one yea (9.6 (1.3 (10.9)
$ 11.C $ 2.€ $ 13.€

For accounting purposes only, we are required uGdekP to discount elements of the fines, penakied
disgorgements to their net present value. As aeber 31, 2009, the Company had recorded totalialscfor
settlement of these matters of $42.7 million. TleenPany accrued and has spent in excess of $3®milliassociated
legal and other professional expenses with a pmvisf $0.9 million remaining as at December 311@20The
Company accrued $3.9 million in the first quarte2010 in respect of probable future compliance eorexpenses.

NewMarket Corporation complain

On July 23, 2010, NewMarket Corporation and itssgdiary, Afton Chemical Corporation (collectively,
“NewMarket”), filed a civil complaint against theo@pany and its subsidiary, Alcor Chemie Vertrielmsk®l

(“Alcor”), in the U.S. District Court for the EasteDistrict of Virginia. The complaint makes cerntalaims against the
Company and Alcor with respect to alleged violagiof provisions of the Robinson-Patman Act, thegWila Antitrust
Act and the Virginia Business Conspiracy Act assult of alleged actions involving officials in ¢rand Indonesia
pertaining to securing sales of the Company’s tetingl lead fuel additive, to
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the apparent detriment of the plaintiffs and tisailes of a competing non-lead based fuel addifike.complaint seeks
treble damages of an unspecified amount, plusreyst fees, costs and expenses. The Company beliegecomplaint
is without merit and intends to defend it vigorgudlut because of uncertainties associated withiltiraate outcome ¢
the complaint and the costs to the Company of redipg to it, we cannot assure you that the ultincatgs and
damages, if any, that may be imposed upon us wilhave a material adverse effect on our resultgpefations,
financial position and cash flows. As at Decemler2D10 we had accrued $2.8 million in respectrobpble future
legal expenses and provided no additional accinaksspect of this matter.

Other Legal Matters

There are no other material pending legal procegsdio which the Company or any of its subsidiaises party, or of
which any of their property is subject, other tloadinary, routine litigation incidental to theirsective businesses,
although an adverse resolution of an unexpected@elnumber of these individual items could inaggregate have a
material adverse effect on results of operationgfparticular year or quarter. We are involveahrfriime to time in
claims and legal proceedings that result from, amedncidental to, the conduct of our businesauigiclg business and
commercial litigation, employee and product ligliklaims.

Guarantees

The Company and certain of the Company’s cons@dalatibsidiaries are contingently liable for certabtigations of
affiliated companies primarily in the form of guataes of debt and performance under contractseshieto as a
normal business practice. This includes guarardkren-U.S. excise taxes and customs duties. Aeaember 31,
2010, such contingent liabilities amounted to $&ilBion.

Under the terms of the guarantee arrangementsranthe Company would be required to perform dddie
affiliated company fail to fulfill its obligationsnder the arrangements. In some cases, the gua@mnéngements have
recourse provisions that would enable the Compamgdover any payments made under the terms giuamantees
from securities held of the guaranteed partie®tass

The Company and its affiliates have numerous l@ngrtsales and purchase commitments in their vabaasess
activities, which are expected to be fulfilled with adverse consequences material to the Company.
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Note 19. Profit on Disposal, net

200¢ 200¢
(in millions) 2010
Profit on disposal of surplus United Kingdom restiage — —
$0.2 $ $
(Loss)/profit on disposal of surplus U.S. real esta —
(0.7) 0.4
$0.1 $ $0.4

In April 2010 the Company recognized $0.2 milliatidwing the disposal of surplus real estate. Thss)/profit on
disposal of the surplus U.S. real estate relatéisetsale in May 2008 of the Company’s former maaotufring site in
Elmwood Park, New Jersey.

Note 20. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncemisn

In January 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Stadeddipdate (ASU) No. 2010-0Bnproving Disclosures about Fe
Value Measuremen{8ASU 2010-06"). This ASU amends ASC Subtopic 82ZDtd require new disclosures regarding
transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2, ad a®lactivity in Level 3, fair value measureme®SU 201006 further
requires additional disclosures about valuatiohriéques and inputs used to measure fair valuedtr kecurring and
nonrecurring fair value measurements. ASU 2010sG8fective for financial statements issued byGloenpany for
interim and annual periods beginning after Decembe009, except for disclosures about purchasdss, issuances,
and settlements in the roll-forward of activityliavel 3 fair value measurements, which are effechor fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2010. The CompanytadopSU 2010-06 for the quarter ended March 310241d
subsequent periods. Adoption did not have a méaier@act on its consolidated financial statements.

Note 21. Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events ap io@duding February 18, 2011, which is the date t
consolidated financial statements were issuedhasdaoncluded that no additional disclosures areired in relation t
events subsequent to the balance sheet date dacém fact that during January 2011 the Compamurchased
116,820 shares at a cost of $2.3 million.
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Item 9 Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial
Disclosure

None.

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this regoetCompany carried out an evaluation under thersigion and with
the participation of our management, including@eef Executive Officer and the Chief Financial i0éfr, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of the@my’s “disclosure controls and procedures” (dsdd in Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exch&uyef 1934, as amended).

Based upon this evaluation of disclosure controts@rocedures, the Company’s Chief Executive Offesel Chief
Financial Officer have concluded that the Companysslosure controls and procedures were effectsvef
December 31, 2010.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for estab§ and maintaining adequate internal controt éimancial
reporting. The Compang’internal control over financial reporting is @@ess designed to provide reasonable assu
regarding the reliability of financial reportingathe preparation of financial statements for exepurposes in
accordance with accounting principles generallyepted in the United States of America.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢t@isstatements. In
addition, projections of any evaluation of effeetiess to future periods are subject to the rigkdratrols may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, bthtbalegree of compliance with the policies orcpdures may
deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectivehesCompany’s internal control over financi@porting as of
December 31, 2010. In making this assessment, reamag used the criteria internal Control — Integrated
Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrise Treadway Commission (“COSQO”).

Based on the evaluation the Company concludedhibafompany maintained effective internal contsardinancial
reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on @&iterthe Internal Control — Integrated Framewoskied by the
COSO.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal cordkar financial reporting as of December 31, 2048 heen audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independentteegdspublic accounting firm, as stated in thepomé which is
included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on ForniK.0
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Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporthg

The Company is continuously seeking to improvegtfieiency and effectiveness of its operations ahits internal
controls. This results in refinements to processesighout the Company. However, there has beahange in the
Company’s internal control over financial reportihgring the most recent fiscal quarter that hasenelly affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Cang’s internal control over financial reporting.

ltem 9B Other Information

None.

96



Table of Contents

PART llI

Item 10 Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

Information under the headings “Election of a Dicg¢ “Re-Election of Two Directors”, “Informatioabout the Board
of Directors”, “Information about the Officers” ari8ection 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Cdiance” set out
in the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting afcRholders to be held on May 11, 2011 (“the Protet&nent”) is
incorporated herein by reference.

At its Board Meeting on February 24, 2004, the Canypformally adopted a Code of Ethics. Any stockeolwho
requires a copy of the Code of Ethics, Corporatee@mance Guidelines or any of the Board Committearters may
obtain one by writing to the General Counsel, Ipsasinc., 8375 South Willow Street, Littleton, Galdo, 80124, e-
mail investor@innospecinc.com. These documents lsarba accessed via the Company’s web site,
WWW.innospecinc.com.

The Company intends to disclose on its internetaity amendments to, or waivers from, its CodearfdDct that are
required to be publicly disclosed pursuant to tiles of the SEC or NASDAQ.

Information regarding the composition and the wogki of the Audit Committee is included under thadiegs
“Corporate Governance — Board Committees — Audim@dtee” and “Audit Committee Report” in the Proxy
Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Information regarding the procedures by which staditers may recommend nominees to the Board otirg is
included under the heading “Corporate GovernanBeard Committees — Nominating and Governance Cotaeiiin
the Proxy Statement and is incorporated hereirefgrence.

Item 11 Executive Compensatior

The information under the headings “Executive Congpdéion”, “Corporate Governance — Board Committees
Compensation Committee — Compensation Committeltwks and Insider Participation” and “Compensatio
Committee Report” in the Proxy Statement is incoaped herein by reference.

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andMlanagement and Relatec
Stockholder Matters

The information under the heading “Information Abour Common Stock Ownership” in the Proxy Statennen
incorporated herein by reference.

Shares Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compatien Plans

The information contained in the table under thadieg “Equity Compensation Plans” in the Proxy &tagnt is
incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information under the headings “Transactiorth &xecutives, Officers, Directors and Others”, @ Other
Transactions and Relationships” and “Corporate @wwgce — Director Independence” in the Proxy Staterns
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Service

Information with respect to fees and services eeléd the Company’s independent registered pubtownting firm,
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, is contained undend¢hading “Audit Committee Report — Principal AccauritFees
and Services” in the Proxy Statement and is inaared herein by reference. Information with respeche Audit
Committee’s pre-approval policies and proceduresigained under the heading “Audit Committee Repdkudit
Committee Pre-approval Policies and ProcedurettierProxy Statement and is incorporated hereirefgrence.
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PART IV
Item 15
(@ (1)

(@)

(3)
3.1
4.€

10.1

10.2
10.c
10.4

10.t
10.¢
10.7
10.¢
10.€
10.1(C

10.11

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule
Financial Statements

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Innospecdnd its subsidiaries and related notes thereto
together with the report thereon of Pricewaterh@aspers LLP dated February 18, 2011, appear on
pages 51 through 94 of the 2010 Form 10-K to stolddrs, are incorporated in Item 8.

Financial Statement Schedule

All financial statement schedules have been ométede the information required to be submittec
been included in the financial statements or bex#usy are either not applicable or not required
under the Rules of Regulations S-X.

Exhibits

Amended and Restated -laws of the Registrant. (.
Rights Agreement dated June 12, 2009.

Employment offer letter from The Associated Octehgpany Limited to Philip J Boon, (2) and Execu
Service Agreement dated June 1, 2009. (1

Contract of Employment, lan McRobbie. (3
Contract of Employment, Dr. Catherine Hessner* (

Contract of Employment, Patrick Williams, dated @hetr 11, 2005, (6) and Executive Service Agree
dated April 2, 2009. (10)

Contract of Employment, lan Cleminson, dated June2806. (7) *
Innospec Inc. Performance Related Stock Option P0&8. (8) *
Innospec Inc. Company Share Option Plan 2008.

Innospec Inc. Non Employee Direct’ Stock Option Plan 2008. (8)
Innospec Inc. Sharesave Plan 2008. (

U.S. $150,000,000 three year Facilities AgreematediFebruary 6, 2009 with Lloyds TSB plc as agent
Company term loan facility of $50,000,000 and reiraj loan of $100,000,000. (!

Contract of Employment, David E. Williams, dategp&enber 17, 2009. (13)
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10.1z

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.1¢

12.1

14
21.1
23.1
31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

Letter dated December 1, 2010 from the Board oé®eors to Patrick S. Williams regarding a one off
bonus payment (filed herewith).

Letter dated December 1, 2010 from the Board oé®ars to lan P. Cleminson regarding a one off b
payment (filed herewith).

Letter dated December 1, 2010 from the Board oé®ars to Philip J. Boon regarding a one off bonus
payment (filed herewith).

Letter dated December 1, 2010 from the Board oé®@ars to lan McRobbie regarding a one off bonus
payment (filed herewith).

Letter dated December 1, 2010 from the Board oé®ars to Brian Watt regarding a one off bonus
payment (filed herewith).

Statement Regarding Computation of Financial Rfitesl herewith).
The Innospec Inc. Code of Ethics.

Principal Subsidiaries of the Registrant (fileddweith).

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing (filed herewith)

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(filed herewith).

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(filed herewith).

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursoant t
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursoant t
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002 (filecherewith).

Notes

(2) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s almemt dated April 21, 1998, to a
previously filed Form 1-12B/A.

(2)  Filed with the Compar’s Form 1K on March 26, 2001
(3) Filed with the Compar’s Form 1K on March 28, 200:
(4)  Filed with the Compar’s Proxy Statement on March 15, 20
(5) Filed with the Compar’s Form 1+-K on March 31, 200t
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(6)  Filed with the Compar’s Form &K on October 12, 200!

(7)  Filed with the Compar’s Form K on June 30, 200¢

(8) Filed with the Compar’s Proxy Statement on March 31, 20
(9)  Filed with the Compar’s &K on February 10, 200!

(10) Filed with the Compar’s &K on April 3, 2009.

(11) Filed with the Compar’s ¢€-K on May 27, 2009

(12) Filed with the Compar’s &K on June 12, 200!

(13) Filed with the Compar’s &-K on September 14, 200

* Management contract or compensatory plan.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf byutidersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

INNOSPEC INC. /s/ PATRICK S. WILLIAMS
By:
(Registrant Patrick S. Williams
Date: President and Chief Executive Offic

February 18, 201

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélptie following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the@apa indicated as of February 18, 2011:

/sl ROBERT E. BEW Chairman and Director

Dr Robert E. Bev

/s/ IAN P. CLEMINSON Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer

lan P. Cleminsol

/sl MARK A. BRACEWELL Group Financial Controller (Principal Accounting
Officer)

Mark A. Bracewell

/sl HUGH G. C. ALDOUS Director

Hugh G. C. Aldou:
/sl MILTON C. BLACKMORE Director

Milton C. Blackmore

/sl MARTIN M. HALE Director
Martin M. Hale
/s ROBERT I. PALLER Director
Robert I. Palle
/s/ JOACHIM ROESER Director

Joachim Roese
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Exhibit 10.12

Private & Confidential

Mr P Williams
[ personal address informatidn

1st December 2010
Dear Patrick

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am delighteadonfirm that the Board have decided to awand g@pecial one off bonus to show their
appreciation of what has been accomplished antbyfadty you have shown to the Company over whatteen an extended and testing period
in the Company’s history. The Board anticipatesrymntinued loyalty and endeavour over the comiagaal as we grow the business both
geographically and by acquisition.

The main elements of this bonus are as follows:-

1.  You will receive a one off bonus payment of $300,0Dhis will be paid in January 201

2. You are required to use 1/3 of this bonus, aéerto purchase Innospec stock in the open mafket should be done in the first stock
trading window after you receive this payment. Béemake sure you let Nicola Earl in Ellesmere Ravee the details of your stock
purchase so the necessary filings can be compl

3. You will be required to hold the stock purchasegdint 2 above for a minimum of 1 ye.

4. If you decide to end your employment with Innospégour own accord, within two years of receivitgstbonus, the Company reser
the right to require you to repay some or all @ thonus payment. Any such repayment will be attsolute discretion of the
Compensation Committee of the Board and you wilhbgfied of their decision in writing

Please sign the attached copy of this letter atuinréo Cathy Hessner in Ellesmere Port, to confioar acceptance of the above terms.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take thigportunity to thank you for your contribution amylty to our company to date and to wish
you continued success in the future as we focudriemg the business forwar

Kind regards
/s/ BoBBEW

Bob Bew
Chairman



Exhibit 10.13

Private & Confidential

Mr I Cleminson
[ personal address informatidn

1st December 2010
Dear lan

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am delighteadonfirm that the Board have decided to awand g@pecial one off bonus to show their
appreciation of what has been accomplished antbyfadty you have shown to the Company over whatteen an extended and testing period
in the Company’s history. The Board anticipatesrymntinued loyalty and endeavour over the comiagaal as we grow the business both
geographically and by acquisition.

The main elements of this bonus are as follows:-

1.  You will receive a one off bonus payment of $250,0Dhis will be paid in January 2011 using the vatg exchange rate at the tin

2. You are required to use 1/3 of this bonus, aéerto purchase Innospec stock in the open mafket should be done in the first stock
trading window after you receive this payment. Béemake sure you let Nicola Earl in Ellesmere Ravee the details of your stock
purchase so the necessary filings can be compl

3. You will be required to hold the stock purchasegdint 2 above for a minimum of 1 ye.

4. If you decide to end your employment with Innospégour own accord, within two years of receivitgstbonus, the Company reser
the right to require you to repay some or all @ thonus payment. Any such repayment will be attsolute discretion of the
Compensation Committee of the Board and you wilhbgfied of their decision in writing

Please sign the attached copy of this letter atuinréo Cathy Hessner in Ellesmere Port, to confioar acceptance of the above terms.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take thigportunity to thank you for your contribution amylty to our company to date and to wish
you continued success in the future as we focudriemg the business forwar

Kind regards
/s/ BoBBEW

Bob Bew
Chairman



Exhibit 10.14

Private & Confidential

Mr P Boon
[ personal address informatidn

1st December 2010
Dear Phil

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am delighteadonfirm that the Board have decided to awand g@pecial one off bonus to show their
appreciation of what has been accomplished antbyfadty you have shown to the Company over whatteen an extended and testing period
in the Company’s history. The Board anticipatesrymntinued loyalty and endeavour over the comiagaal as we grow the business both
geographically and by acquisition.

The main elements of this bonus are as follows:-

1.  You will receive a one off bonus payment of $228,0Dhis will be paid in January 2011 using the vatg exchange rate at the tin

2. You are required to use 1/3 of this bonus, aéerto purchase Innospec stock in the open mafket should be done in the first stock
trading window after you receive this payment. Béemake sure you let Nicola Earl in Ellesmere Ravee the details of your stock
purchase so the necessary filings can be compl

3. You will be required to hold the stock purchasegdint 2 above for a minimum of 1 ye.

4. If you decide to end your employment with Innospégour own accord, within two years of receivitgstbonus, the Company reser
the right to require you to repay some or all @ thonus payment. Any such repayment will be attsolute discretion of the
Compensation Committee of the Board and you wilhbgfied of their decision in writing

Please sign the attached copy of this letter atuinréo Cathy Hessner in Ellesmere Port, to confioar acceptance of the above terms.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take thigportunity to thank you for your contribution amylty to our company to date and to wish
you continued success in the future as we focudriemg the business forwar

Kind regards
/s/ BoBBEW

Bob Bew
Chairman



Exhibit 10.15

Private & Confidential

Dr | McRobbie
[ personal address informatidn

1st December 2010
Dear lan

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am delighteadonfirm that the Board have decided to awand g@pecial one off bonus to show their
appreciation of what has been accomplished antbyfadty you have shown to the Company over whatteen an extended and testing period
in the Company’s history. The Board anticipatesrymntinued loyalty and endeavour over the comiagaal as we grow the business both
geographically and by acquisition.

The main elements of this bonus are as follows:-

1. You will receive a one off bonus payment of $179,0Dhis will be paid in January 2011 using the vatg exchange rate at the tin

2. You are required to use 1/3 of this bonus, aéerto purchase Innospec stock in the open mafket should be done in the first stock
trading window after you receive this payment. Béemake sure you let Nicola Earl in Ellesmere Ravee the details of your stock
purchase so the necessary filings can be compl

3. You will be required to hold the stock purchasegdint 2 above for a minimum of 1 ye.

4. If you decide to end your employment with Innospégour own accord, within two years of receivitgstbonus, the Company reser
the right to require you to repay some or all @ thonus payment. Any such repayment will be attsolute discretion of the
Compensation Committee of the Board and you wilhbgfied of their decision in writing

Please sign the attached copy of this letter atuinréo Cathy Hessner in Ellesmere Port, to confioar acceptance of the above terms.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take thigportunity to thank you for your contribution amylty to our company to date and to wish
you continued success in the future as we focudriemg the business forwar

Kind regards
/s/ BoBBEW

Bob Bew
Chairman



Exhibit 10.1€

Private & Confidential

Mr B Watt
[ personal address informatidn

1st December 2010
Dear Brian

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am delighteadonfirm that the Board have decided to awand g@pecial one off bonus to show their
appreciation of what has been accomplished antbyfadty you have shown to the Company over whatteen an extended and testing period
in the Company’s history. The Board anticipatesrymntinued loyalty and endeavour over the comiagaal as we grow the business both
geographically and by acquisition.

The main elements of this bonus are as follows:-

1.  You will receive a one off bonus payment of $228,0Dhis will be paid in January 2011 using the vatg exchange rate at the tin

2. You are required to use 1/3 of this bonus, aéerto purchase Innospec stock in the open mafket should be done in the first stock
trading window after you receive this payment. Béemake sure you let Nicola Earl in Ellesmere Ravee the details of your stock
purchase so the necessary filings can be compl

3. You will be required to hold the stock purchasegdint 2 above for a minimum of 1 ye.

4. If you decide to end your employment with Innospégour own accord, within two years of receivitgstbonus, the Company reser
the right to require you to repay some or all @ thonus payment. Any such repayment will be attsolute discretion of the
Compensation Committee of the Board and you wilhbgfied of their decision in writing

Please sign the attached copy of this letter atuinréo Cathy Hessner in Ellesmere Port, to confioar acceptance of the above terms.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take thigportunity to thank you for your contribution amylty to our company to date and to wish
you continued success in the future as we focudriemg the business forwar

Kind regards
/s/ BoBBEW

Bob Bew
Chairman



EXHIBIT 12.1—STATEMENT REGARDING COMPUTATION OF FIN ANCIAL RATIOS

(in millions, except financial ratios, share and peshare data)

1. NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO INNOSPEC INC. AS A
PERCENT OF SALES

A Net income attributable to Innospec |
B Net sales
A% of B
2. EFFECTIVE INCOME TAX RATE AS A PERCENT
C Income taxe:!
D Income before income tax
C%ofLC
3. CURRENT RATIO
E Current assetl
F Current liabilities

Ratio of Eto F

4. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO INNOSPEC INC

G Net income attributable to Innospec |

H Basic shares outstandil

I Diluted shares outstandit

G/H Basic earnings per share attributable to
Innospec Inc

G/l Diluted earnings per share attributable to
Innospec Inc

2010

2009

2008

2007

Exhibit 12.1

2006

$ 73
$ 683.2
10.8%

$ (3.0
$ 70.7
-4.2%

$ 321.¢
$ 158.¢
2.C

$ 73
23,75¢
24,81«

$ 3.1C

$ 2.97

$ 64
$ 598.t
1.1%

$ 11.¢
$ 18.8
65.(%

$ 282.¢
$ 179.¢
1.6

$ 64
23,64
24,714

$ 0.27

$ 0.2¢

Shares in thousands, earnings per share attrileutatbhnospec Inc. in dollars.

$ 12t
$ 640.5
2.C%

$ 6.3
$ 18.¢
33.52%

$ 256.¢
$ 188.1
14

$ 12t
23,59¢
24,39

$ 0.5¢

$ 0.51

$ 29.t
$ 602.4
4.%%

$ 18.C
$ 47.¢
38.1%

$ 256.1
$ 160.7
1.6

$ 29.t
23,92(
24,83¢

$ 1.2t

$ 1.1¢

$ 114
$ 532.1
2.1%

$ 20.
$ 31.¢
63.€%

$ 305.¢
$ 142.¢
2.1

$ 114
24,141
25,33¢

$ 0.47

$ 0.4t



EXHIBIT 21.1 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRA NT

Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH (Switzerland)
Innospec Active Chemicals LLC (USA)
Innospec Deutschland GmbH (Germany)
Innospec Developments Limited (U.K.)
Innospec Environmental Limited (U.K.)
Innospec Finance Limited (U.K.)

Innospec France SA (France)

Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC (USA)
Innospec Holdings Limited (U.K.)

Innospec International Limited (U.K.)
Innospec Leuna GmbH (Germany)
Innospec Limited (U.K.)

Innospec Trading Limited (U.K.)

Innospec Widnes Limited (U.K.)

OBOAdler Company Limited (U.K.)

Societa Italiana Additivi Per Carburanti S.r.la(if)

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No-B83B687/ 333-124139) of Innospec Inc.

of our report dated February 18, 2011 relatindhtofinancial statements and the effectivenesstefrial control over financial reporting, which
appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Manchester, United Kingdom
February 18, 2011



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PATRICK S. WILLIAMS PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Patrick S. Williams, certify that:

1.
2.

Is/

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Innospec Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(d internal control over financial reportiag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financigloming, or caused such internal control over foiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséantlis report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgulures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the regi¢'s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registre' s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrobover financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfwspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssehe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which au
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

PATRICK S. WILLIAMS

Patrick S. Williams
President and Chief Executive Officel

February 18, 201



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF IAN P. CLEMINSON PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, lan P.Cleminson, certify that:

1.
2.

Is/

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Innospec Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(d internal control over financial reportiag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financigloming, or caused such internal control over foiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséantlis report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgulures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the regi¢'s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registre' s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrobover financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfwspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssehe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which au
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

IAN P. CLEMINSON

lan P. Cleminson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

February 18, 201



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10{fdrmospec Inc. (the “Companyfdr the period ended December 31, 2010 as filet thi¢
Securities and Exchange Commission on the datehg@he “Report”), |, Patrick S. Williams, Presideand Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 135(dapted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxleyp#2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc
2) The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sl PATRICK S. WILLIAMS

Patrick S. Williams
President and Chief Executive Officer

February 18, 201

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 and is not beiredféks part of this Report or as a separate
disclosure document.

A signed original of this written statement reqdiley 18 U.S.C. §1350 has been provided to the Cagnaad will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Cosiomigipon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT T O
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fdrmospec Inc. (the “Companyfdr the period ended December 31, 2010 as filet thi¢
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dat@h@he “Report”), I, lan P. Cleminson, Executivic¥ President and Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 IS8 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of theaBas-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

2) The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdéition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ 1ANP. CLEMINSON

lan P. Cleminson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

February 18, 201

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 and is not beiredféks part of this Report or as a separate
disclosure document.

A signed original of this written statement reqdiley 18 U.S.C. §1350 has been provided to the Cagnaad will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Cosionisipon reques



